
AGENDA 

DATE & TIME 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

Wednesday, August 21, 2024 - 7:01 PM 

LOCATION  
Independence Plaza, 703 Atlantic Avenue, Alameda - Ruth Rambeau Memorial Community 
Room   

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  Public access to this meeting is available as follows: 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83030077310?pwd=fv5xIYAEFr5k4f7GI6KQMDOK4vRw4g.1 

Meeting ID: 830 3007 7310 
Passcode: 790402 

Persons wishing to address the Board of Directors are asked to submit comments for the 
public speaking portion of the Agenda as follows: 

 Send an email with your comment(s) to jpolar@alamedahsg.org and 
vcooper@alamedahsg.org prior to or during the Board of Directors meeting 

 Call and leave a message at (510) 871-7435. 

When addressing the Board, on agenda items or business introduced by Directors, members 
of the public may speak for a maximum of three minutes per agenda item when the subject is 
before the Board. 

Persons in need of special assistance to participate in the meetings of the Alameda 
Affordable Housing Corporation Board of Directors, please contact (510) 747-4325 (voice), 
TTY/TRS: 711, or jpolar@alamedahsg.org. Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will 
enable the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation Board of Directors to make reasonable 
arrangements to ensure accessibility or language assistance.   

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

1. ROLL CALL - Board of Directors

2. AB2449 COMPLIANCE "AB2449 Compliance: The Chair will confirm that there are 4
members in the same, properly noticed meeting room within the jurisdiction of the City
of Alameda. Each board member who is accessing the meeting remotely must
disclose verbally whether they are able to be remote under AB2449: (1) just cause
(max. 2 per year), or (2) emergency circumstances.” For Emergency Circumstances,



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting Page 2 
August 21, 2024 

the request must be approved by a majority vote of the Board of Directors for the 
emergency circumstances to be used as a justification to participate remotely. 
Remote Directors must provide a general description of the circumstances relating to 
the need to appear remotely at the given meeting. Directors must also publicly 
disclose at the meeting, prior to any action, whether any other individuals 18 years or 
older are present in the room with the member at the remote location, and the general 
nature of the member’s relationship with such individuals. Note: A Director cannot 
participate in meetings of the Board of Directors solely by teleconference from a 
remote location for a period of more than 3 consecutive months or 20% of the regular 
meetings for AAHC within a calendar year, or more than 2 meetings if the Board of 
Directors regularly meets fewer than 10 times per calendar year. 

3. DIRECTOR RECUSALS

4. Public Comment (Non-Agenda)

5. CONSENT CALENDER 
Consent Calendar items are considered routine and will be approved or accepted by one
motion unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the Board
of Directors or a member of the public.

5.A.  Approve Minutes of the Special Board of Directors Meeting held on June 26, 2024.

5.B.  Accept the Quarterly Non-LIHTC Portfolio Asset Management Fiscal Year to Date
Financial Report through June 30, 2024. 

5.C.  Approve the Quarterly Write-off to June 30, 2024 of Uncollectible Accounts
Receivable from Former Residents. 

5.D.  Accept the 2024 Local Housing Trust Fund Annual Reports.

5.E.  Authorize the Executive Director to sign a contract Not To Exceed $339,250 with Pro-
Ex Construction for Steel Stairs and Guardrail Upgrades At Esperanza, China Clipper, 
and Stanford House. 

5.F.  Authorize the Executive Director to Execute a Contract and Change Orders with
Athens General Construction for a Not To Exceed Amount of $400,000 for Exterior 
Repairs at Independence Plaza. 

6. AGENDA

7. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS, Non-Agenda (Public Comment)

8. EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S COMMUNICATIONS

9. DIRECTORS COMMUNICATIONS, (Communications from the Directors)

10. ADJOURNMENT OF REGULAR MEETING

* * * Note * * *

Documents related to this agenda are available for public inspection and copying at the 
Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation office, 701 Atlantic Avenue, during normal business 
hours. 

Know Your RIGHTS Under the Ralph M. Brown Act: Government’s duty is to serve the public, 
reaching its decisions in full view of the public.  The Board of Directors exists to conduct the 
business of its constituents. Deliberations are conducted before the people and are open for 

Page 4

Page 7

Page 28
Page 31

Page 33

Page 219



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 3 
August 21, 2024 

  

the people’s review. 
 
In order to assist the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation’s efforts to accommodate 
persons with severe allergies, environmental illnesses, multiple chemical sensitivity or related 
disabilities, attendees at public meetings are reminded that other attendees may be sensitive 
to various chemical based products. Please help the Alameda Affordable Housing 
Corporation accommodate these individuals. 



 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
SPECIAL MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Wednesday, June 26, 2024 

 

  

 

 



  

  

  

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
Items accepted or adopted are indicated by an asterisk.

  

  

  



  

  

 

 



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Shanon Lampkins, Director of Asset Management  

Prepared By: Shanon Lampkins, Director of Asset Management 

 
Date:  
  

August 21, 2024  

Re: Accept the Quarterly Non-LIHTC Portfolio Asset Management Fiscal 
Year to Date Financial Report through June 30, 2024. 
5.B. 

 
BACKGROUND 
The Housing Authority of the City of Alameda (AHA) and the Alameda Affordable Housing 
Corporation (AAHC) hold a portfolio of affordable housing stock. The cumulative unit count is 
543 units, of which 47% house seniors and 53% house families. Most of the units are 
supported by Project-Based Voucher and Housing Choice Voucher rental subsidy programs 
and do not have hard debt.  
 
 AAHC's portfolio includes Anne B. Diament Plaza (65 units), Independence Plaza (186 
units), China Clipper Plaza (26 units), Eagle Village (36 units), Parrot Village (50 units), 
Esperanza (120 units), and Scattered Sites - Lincoln Willow (5 units), Stanford House (4 
units), and Pulte Homes (18 units). The total number of units is 510.  
  
AHA's portfolio includes Parrot Gardens (8 units) and Scattered Sites. The Scattered Sites 
are Condos (7 units), Mulberry Town Homes (4 units), Paru House (1 unit), Lincoln House (4 
units), and Sherman House (9 units). The total number of units is 33. 
 
Units owned by Island City Development (ICD) and other properties with tax credits are 
reported in the ICD packet.  
  
For the months of July 2023 to June 2024, the property management duties were contracted 
to the FPI Management Company. The resident services were contracted to LifeSTEPS.  
  
DISCUSSION 
This memo provides an overview of the AHA and AAHC portfolio asset management fiscal 
year-to-date financial report through the month of June 2024. This report tracks performance 
per the budget and includes achievements, items of note, and upcoming events or changes. 
Please note the properties’ fiscal year-end is June 30, 2024, and the figures used in this 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
August 21, 2024 

  

report may change and not match the audit. The properties faced some challenges last year, 
including a transfer to a new property management company.  

 Budgets were carried forward from JSCO to FPI with minimal changes. Staff used a 
full zero-based budget method to complete the budgets for Fiscal Year 2024-25. 

 Due to the COVID moratorium, the portfolio has accrued large balances of Tenant 
Receivables. To put in perspective, $505,507 of the total outstanding balance of 
$563,084, was accrued before the expiration of the COVID moratorium (before our 
payment plans were in effect November 2023). During the COVID moratorium, 
landlords were unable to use many of our tools for working with residents to collect 
past due rent. 

 Staff and FPI have worked through a systematic plan to get tenants on payment plans 
and to seek assistance through resident services.  

 Total Operating Revenue: Actual revenue of $16,941,417 was 10% higher than the 
budgeted amount of $15,420,147.   

 Total Operating Expenses: Actual expenses of $5,397,292 was 1.42% higher than the 
budgeted amount of $531,291. 

 Net Operating Income (NOI): Overall, actual NOI of $11,544,125 was 14.32% higher 
than the budgeted amount of $10,098,226.  

 
For the following summaries, these statements apply to all properties: 

 Operating Revenue - Includes tenant rent, rental subsidy (HAP), vacancy loss, laundry 
income, and interest on accounts.  

 Tenant Account Receivable are on the whole decreasing as residents sign and pay on 
payment plans or move-out and are sent to collections.  

 Operating Expense - Includes marketing, administrative, property management fees, 
salaries and benefits, utilities, operating and maintenance, taxes and insurance, and 
resident services. 

 Net Operating Income (NOI) - Operating Revenue minus Operating Expense. 
 Total Net Cash Flow will be distributed in accordance with the governing regulatory 
agreements. 

 Occupancy rate is an average of the period to date occupancy. 

  
Anne B Diament Plaza (65 units - senior 62+, Studios and 1 bedrooms. Max income is 80% 
AMI.) 

 Operating Revenue is $1,502,677, which is 4% ($59,294) lower than budget. 
 Economic Occupancy averaged 96% (2 vacant units) over the fiscal year. 
 Tenant Revenue is $479,667 and Subsidy Revenue is $1,140,705 compared to a 
budget of $475,956 and $1,109,784 respectively.  

 Tenant Accounts Receivable is $44,019. 
 Operating Expenses are $572,653, which is 11% ($72,577) lower than budget due to 
lower payroll and administrative costs. Our temporary maintenance worker has 
accepted the full-time position and is on our payroll now. Some utility bills from the 
second quarter are expected to be paid in July when Conservice is implemented.   

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $930,024, which is 1% ($13,283) higher than budget. 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 3 
August 21, 2024 

  

We do expect expenses to stabilize and outstanding payables to be caught up in the 
third quarter. 

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $930,024. 

  
Independence Plaza (186 units- senior, 1 and 2 beds. Max income is 80% AMI) 

 Operating Revenue is $6,111,696, which is 39% ($1,705,826) higher than budget. The 
CIC payment (other income) we received in January 2024 accounts for $2,887,086 
which resulted in a net positive revenue to budget variance.      

 Economic Occupancy averaged 97% (6 vacant units) over the report period. 
 Tenant Revenue is $2,755,648 and Subsidy Revenue is $1,561,046. 
 Tenant Account Receivable is $30,541. 
 Operating Expenses are $1,528,170 which is 20% ($249,780) higher than budget.  
 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $4,583,525, which is 47% ($1,456,046) higher than the 
budget due to the CIC payment being received in January 2024. 

 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $777,096 and 
$48,132 respectively.   

 Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 5.84. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $3,758,297. 

  
China Clipper Plaza (26 units - family 0-3 beds, max income is 80% AM.I) 

 Operating Revenue is $610,226, which is 2% ($11,594) lower than budget.  
 Economic Occupancy was 98% (0 vacant units) and averaged 98% for the report 
period. As of June 30th, there were no vacancies. 

 Tenant Revenue is $165,290 and Subsidy Revenue is $448,954.   
 Tenant Account Receivable is $15,018.  
 Operating Expenses are $240,927, which is 19% ($57,095) lower than budget as a 
result of not being fully staffed and having lower than budgeted property insurance. 

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $369,299, which is 14% ($45,501) higher than budget. 
 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $369,299. 

  
Eagle Village (36 units - family 0-3 beds, max income is 80% AM.I) 

 Operating Revenue is $1,103,104, which is 5% ($53,832) lower than budget due to 
occupancy being lower than what was budgeted.  

 Economic Occupancy averaged 95% (2 vacant units) for the report period, higher than 
the budget which was one vacant unit per month. As of June 30th, there were 0 
vacancies.   

 Tenant Revenue is $302,968 and Subsidy Revenue is $858,698. 
 Tenant Account Receivable was $16,406 and primarily attributed to four residents with 
large accrued balances during the COVID moratorium.  

 Operating Expenses are $316,246, which is 20% ($81,167) lower than budget 
primarily due to not needing to utilize large budgeted items such as office equipment 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 4 
August 21, 2024 

  

and computer software expenses. We do anticipate some outstanding bills to be paid 
in the next fiscal year.  

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $786,858, which is 4% ($27,335) higher than budget. 
 The replacement reserve requirement has been waived by the lender. 
 Mandatory hard debt service is $187,397. 
 Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 4.2. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $599,461. 

  
Parrot Village (50 units - family 2-4 beds, max income is 80% AMI.) 

 Operating Revenue is $1,653,083, which is 10% ($191,942) lower than budget due to 
long-standing vacant units. 

 Economic Occupancy averaged 85% (7 vacant units) over the Fiscal Year, compared 
to a budget of 98% and 1 vacant unit. There was remediation in two units, and repairs 
to a unit that was damaged by a tree resulting in the residents’ relocation to another 
unit. As of June 30th, there are 5 vacant units.  

 Tenant Revenue is $435,652 and Subsidy Revenue is $1,371,264.  
 Tenant Account Receivable is $197,818, with $160,994 (82%) having accrued during 
the COVID moratorium. 

 Operating Expenses are $702,307, which is 14% ($85,991) higher than budget. This is 
primarily due to expenses regarding the plumbing remediation and rebuilding and 
relocation of units 1866 and 1863 due to storm damage. Additionally, there were 
material expenses setting up an onsite office. During this period, the property 
experienced 5 move-outs and 6 move-ins, which contributed to higher than budgeted 
turnover costs. 

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $950,776, which is 23% ($277,933) lower than the 
budget.  

 Replacement Reserve deposit requirements have been waived by the lender. 
 Mandatory hard debt service is $258,787. 
 Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 3.67. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $454,700 after capital expenses mainly attributed to the 
flooded units. 

  
Parrot Gardens (8 units – family 2-3 beds, max income is 80% AMI.) 

 Operating Revenue is $181,678, which is 15% ($32,865) lower than budget.  
 Economic Occupancy is 100% (0 vacant unit). Note: one unit is being used as a 
shared office for Parrot Gardens and Parrot Village. Parrot Village pays a portion of 
the rent to Parrot Gardens for that use. Another unit is designated for the property 
manager. Lost rent for these unit is supposed to be charged pro rata to Parrot Village 
and Parrot Gardens. The manager’s unit will move to Parrott Village in the next fiscal 
year.  

 Tenant Revenue is $140,690 and Subsidy Revenue is $115,678.  
 Tenant Account Receivable is $20,458 with $16,780 of that total being accrued during 
the COVID moratorium.  

 Operating Expenses are $123,616, which is 9% ($9,754) higher than budget. This is 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 5 
August 21, 2024 

  

due to delayed payments for janitorial services in 2023. In addition, pest control 
services were added to the property that was not previously budgeted. 

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $58,062, which is 42% ($42,619) lower than budget. 
 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $56,471 after capital expenses. 

  
Esperanza (120 units - family 1-5 beds, max income is 80% AMI.) 

 Operating Revenue is $4,511,343, which is 6% ($237,308) higher than budget.     
 Economic Occupancy averaged 97% (3 vacant units) over the Fiscal Year. As of June 
30th, 2 units were vacant. 

 Tenant Revenue is $895,856 and Subsidy Revenue is $3,271,658. 
 Tenant Account Receivable is $225,832.  
 Twelve residents make up majority of the aged receivable balance. As of June 30, 
2024, there are eight households in evictionstatus.  

 Operating Expenses are $1,333,956, which is 6% ($76,733) higher than budget. This 
is largely attributed to temporary staffing utilized at the property.  

 Net Operating Income (NOI) is $3,177,387, which is 5% ($160,575) higher than 
budget. 

 Replacement Reserve deposit requirements are $36,600. 
 Mandatory hard debt service is $987,744. 
 Debt Service Coverage Ratio is 3.18. 
 Total Net Cash Flow is $2,022,077 after capital expenses mainly attributed to flooring 
and appliance replacements on turns. 

 
AHA Scattered Sites (25 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $642,028, which is 3% ($21,507) lower than budget.  
 Economic Occupancy averaged 99% over the first Fiscal Year.  At June 30th, 0 units 
were vacant. 

 Tenant Revenue is $55,074 and Subsidy Revenue is $356,333. 
 Tenant Accounts Receivable is $30,161 with $26,630 having been accrued during the 
COVID moratorium. 

 Operating Expenses are $247,169, which is 27% ($90,714) under budget. This is 
primarily due to a robust operating and maintenance budget while the property 
maintained 100% occupancy and had only 1 unit turn. Insurance was also budgeted 
materially higher than actual.  

 Net Operating Income is $394,859, which is 21% ($69,207) higher than budget. 
 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0.  
 Total Net Cash Flow is $394,859. 

  
AAHC Scattered Sites (27 units) 

 Operating Revenue is $625,582, which is 8% ($50,829) lower than budget as a result 
of a higher than expected vacancy.  

 Economic Occupancy averaged 89% (3 vacant units) over the Fiscal Year. Less than 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 6 
August 21, 2024 

  

1 unit was budgeted for vacancy. As of June 30th, 0 units were vacant. 
 Tenant Revenue is $381,328 and Subsidy Revenue is $332,010. 
 Tenant Account Receivable is $50,165 with $31,758 having been accrued during the 
COVID moratorium. 

 Operating Expenses are $340,921, which is 12% (44,390) lower than budget. A large 
portion of this is due to homeowner dues not being paid in full during this period. 
Additionally, we were not fully staffed while actively looking for a full-time maintenance 
tech.  

 Net Operating Income is $284,661, which is 2% ($6,439) lower than budget.  
 Mandatory hard debt service and reserve deposit requirements are $0.  
 Total Net Cash Flow is $224,617 after capital expenses for insurance damage and 
flooring. 

 
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
The properties are generally cash flowing positively and NOI overall is 3% higher than the 
budget. Continued efforts to collect tenant receivables and to fill units in a timely manner 
should help with lower-than-expected income going forward. Staff are working with FPI to 
ensure payables are paid more timely. In January, February, April and May 2024, the board 
approved the write-off of certain bad debt for residents no longer living in our properties.   
  
CEQA 
Not applicable.  
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Accept the Quarterly Non-LIHTC Portfolio Asset Management Fiscal Year to Date Financial 
Report through June 2024.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
1. AHA Non-LIHTC Q2 2024 Graphs 
2. Q2 non-LIHTC Quarterly Reports Final 
  
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Shanon Lampkins, Director of Asset Management 
 



8/6/2024

1

www.alamedahsg.org

Non-LIHTC Q2 
2024 REPORT

Income is on a Accrual Basis
Expenses are on an Accrual Basis
Income Variance is calculated Actual-Budget
Expense Variance is calculated Actual-Budget
PUPY refers to Per Unit Per Year to Date

Shanon Lampkins
Director of Asset Management

www.alamedahsg.org

75

80

85

90

95

100

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village AHA AAHC Eagle Village Independence
Plaza

ABD

O
cc

up
an

cy
 %

Occupancy

July August September October November December January February March April May June

1

2



8/6/2024

2

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $7,000,000

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Total Revenue

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Total Revenue
(per unit)

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

3

4



8/6/2024

3

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Total Expenses

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $5,000

 $10,000

 $15,000

 $20,000

 $25,000

 $30,000

 $35,000

 $40,000

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Total Expenses
(per unit)

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

5

6



8/6/2024

4

www.alamedahsg.org

 $(1,000,000)

 $-

 $1,000,000

 $2,000,000

 $3,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $5,000,000

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Net Operating Income

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

www.alamedahsg.org

 $(10,000)

 $10,000

 $30,000

 $50,000

 $70,000

 $90,000

 $110,000

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Net Operating Income
(per unit)

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

7

8



8/6/2024

5

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $350,000

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Tenant Accounts Receivable

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village AHA AAHC Eagle Village Independence Plaza Anne B. Diament

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $1,000

 $2,000

 $3,000

 $4,000

 $5,000

 $6,000

 $7,000

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Tenant Accounts Receivable
(per unit)

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village AHA AAHC Eagle Village Independence Plaza Anne B. Diament

9

10



8/6/2024

6

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $10,000

 $20,000

 $30,000

 $40,000

 $50,000

 $60,000

 $70,000

 $80,000

 $90,000

 $100,000

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Tenant Services Expense

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

www.alamedahsg.org

 $-

 $500

 $1,000

 $1,500

 $2,000

 $2,500

 $3,000

 $3,500

2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024

Tenant Services Expense 
(per unit)

China Clipper Esperanza Parrot Gardens Parrot Village Eagle Village Independence Plaza ABD

11

12



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 65

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue 479,667$          475,956$          3,711$                  1% 7,379$            
Subsidy Revenue 1,140,705$      1,109,784$      30,921$                3% 17,549$          
Vacancy Loss (71,697)$           (31,715)$           (39,982)$              126% (1,103)$           
Other Gain/Loss (30,792)$           (0)$                       (30,792)$              NA (474)$               
Other Income (15,206)$           7,946$               (23,151)$              -291% (234)$               
Total Operating Revenue 1,502,677$      1,561,971$      (59,294)$               -4% 23,118$          

Administrative Expenses 144,340$          158,958$          (14,618)$              -9% 2,221$            
Utilities Expense 146,504$          152,125$          (5,621)$                 -4% 2,254$            
Operating and Maintenance 178,696$          207,576$          (28,880)$              -14% 2,749$            
Taxes and Insurance 71,513$            95,371$            (23,858)$              -25% 1,100$            
Resident Services 31,600$            31,200$            400$                      1% 486$                
Total Operating Expenses 572,653$          645,230$          (72,577)$               -11% 8,810$             

Net Operating Income 930,024$          916,741$          13,283$                1% 14,308$          

Replacement Reserves N/A N/A
Debt Service N/A N/A

Net Cash Flow 930,024$          916,741$          13,283$                1% 14,308$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio N/A N/A

Operating Expense PUPY 8,810$               9,927$               
Operating Expense PUPM 734$                   827$                   

Number of Units 65
Months In YTD 12

Anne B. Diament Plaza



Income Statement Jul-Jul
Number of Units 186

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue 2,755,648$      1,787,808$      967,840$             54% 14,815$          
Subsidy Revenue 1,561,046$      1,208,619$      352,427$             29% 8,393$            
Vacancy Loss (135,684)$        (59,929)$           (75,755)$              126% (729)$               
Other Gain/Loss (970,919)$        (0)$                       (970,919)$           NA (5,220)$           
Other Income 2,901,604$      1,469,372$      1,432,233$         97% 15,600$          
Total Operating Revenue 6,111,696$      4,405,870$      1,705,826$         39% 32,859$          

Administrative Expenses 329,876$          347,972$          (18,096)$              -5% 1,774$            
Utilities Expense 286,056$          277,689$          8,367$                  3% 1,538$            
Operating and Maintenance 495,865$          435,343$          60,522$                14% 2,666$            
Taxes and Insurance 333,457$          172,041$          161,415$             94% 1,793$            
Resident Services 82,916$            45,345$            37,571$                83% 446$                
Total Operating Expenses 1,528,170$      1,278,391$      249,780$              20% 8,216$             

Net Operating Income 4,583,525$      3,127,480$      1,456,046$         47% 24,643$          

Replacement Reserves 48,132$            48,132$            
Debt Service 777,096$          777,096$          

Net Cash Flow 3,758,297$      2,302,252$      1,456,046$         63% 20,206$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 5.84 3.96

Operating Expense PUPY 8,216$               6,873$               
Operating Expense PUPM 685$                   573$                   

Number of Units 186
Months In YTD 12

Independence Plaza



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 26

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue 165,290$          203,423$          (38,133)$              -19% 6,357$            
Subsidy Revenue 448,954$          461,148$          (12,194)$              -3% 17,267$          
Vacancy Loss (13,034)$           (13,291)$           257$                      -2% (501)$               
Other Gain/Loss 18,064$            (1)$                       18,065$                NA 695$                
Other Income (9,048)$             (29,460)$           20,412$                -69% (348)$               
Total Operating Revenue 610,226$          621,821$          (11,594)$               -2% 23,470$          

Administrative Expenses 58,795$            68,289$            (9,494)$                 -14% 2,261$            
Utilities Expense 64,165$            58,876$            5,289$                  9% 2,468$            
Operating and Maintenance 74,811$            98,593$            (23,782)$              -24% 2,877$            
Taxes and Insurance 31,343$            59,287$            (27,944)$              -47% 1,206$            
Resident Services 11,813$            12,978$            (1,165)$                 -9% 454$                
Total Operating Expenses 240,927$          298,023$          (57,095)$               -19% 9,266$             

Net Operating Income 369,299$          323,798$          45,501$                14% 14,204$          

Replacement Reserves N/A N/A
Debt Service N/A N/A

Net Cash Flow 369,299$          323,798$          45,501$                14% 14,204$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio N/A N/A

Operating Expense PUPY 9,266$               11,462$            
Operating Expense PUPM 772$                   955$                   

Number of Units 26
Months In YTD 12

China Clipper Plaza



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 36

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue 302,968$          278,305$          24,663$                9% 8,416$            
Subsidy Revenue 858,698$          932,280$          (73,583)$              -8% 23,853$          
Vacancy Loss (50,221)$           (24,212)$           (26,009)$              107% (1,395)$           
Other Gain/Loss 21,576$            (1)$                       21,577$                N/A 599$                
Other Income (29,916)$           (29,436)$           (480)$                     2% (831)$               
Total Operating Revenue 1,103,104$      1,156,936$      (53,832)$               -5% 30,642$          

Administrative Expenses 77,919$            94,149$            (16,230)$              -17% 2,164$            
Utilities Expense 87,847$            96,143$            (8,296)$                 -9% 2,440$            
Operating and Maintenance 92,803$            110,940$          (18,138)$              -16% 2,578$            
Taxes and Insurance 41,702$            79,648$            (37,946)$              -48% 1,158$            
Resident Services 15,975$            16,533$            (558)$                     -3% 444$                
Total Operating Expenses 316,246$          397,413$          (81,167)$               -20% 8,785$             

Net Operating Income 786,858$          759,523$          27,335$                4% 21,857$          

Replacement Reserves -$                    -$                    
Debt Service 187,397$          187,397$          

Net Cash Flow 599,461$          572,126$          27,335$                5% 16,652$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 4.20 4.05

Operating Expense PUPM 732$                   920$                   
Operating Expense PUPY 8,785$               11,039$            

Number of Units 36
Months In YTD 12

Eagle Village



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 50

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue 435,652$          496,225$          (60,573)$              -12% 8,713$            
Subsidy Revenue 1,371,264$      1,384,512$      (13,248)$              -1% 27,425$          
Vacancy Loss (258,250)$        (37,615)$           (220,635)$           587% (5,165)$           
Other Gain/Loss 231,625$          (1)$                       231,626$             NA 4,632$            
Other Income (127,208)$        1,904$               (129,111)$           -6782% (2,544)$           
Total Operating Revenue 1,653,083$      1,845,025$      (191,942)$            -10% 33,062$          

Administrative Expenses 173,931$          143,024$          30,907$                22% 3,479$            
Utilities Expense 180,716$          185,822$          (5,106)$                 -3% 3,614$            
Operating and Maintenance 250,512$          193,565$          56,947$                29% 5,010$            
Taxes and Insurance 80,843$            69,220$            11,623$                17% 1,617$            
Resident Services 16,305$            24,685$            (8,380)$                 -34% 326$                
Total Operating Expenses 702,307$          616,316$          85,991$                14% 14,046$          

Net Operating Income 950,776$          1,228,709$      (277,933)$            -23% 19,016$          

Replacement Reserves -$                    -$                    
Debt Service 258,787$          258,787$          

Capital Expense + Tenant Relocation 237,290$          

Net Cash Flow 454,700$          732,633$          (277,933)$            -38% 9,094$             

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 3.67 2.83

Operating Expense PUPM 1,171$               1,027$               
Operating Expense PUPY 14,046$            12,326$            

Number of Units 50
Months In YTD 12

Parrot Village



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 8

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue  $         140,690 73,442$                   67,248$               92% 17,586$         
Subsidy Revenue  $         115,678 161,076$                 (45,398)$             -28% 14,460$         
Vacancy Loss  $                       -   (4,690)$                    4,690$                 -100% -$                 
Other Gain/Loss  $          (30,992)  $                 (10,594) (20,398)$             N/A (3,874)$          
Other Income  $          (43,698) (4,690)$                    (39,008)$             N/A (5,462)$          
Total Operating Revenue  $          181,678  $                  214,543 (32,865)$              -15% 22,710$          

Administrative Expenses  $            27,750 27,002$                   748$                     3% 3,469$            
Utilities Expense  $            30,103 41,360$                   (11,257)$             -27% 3,763$            
Operating and Maintenance  $            45,651 30,001$                   15,650$               52% 5,706$            
Taxes and Insurance  $            10,784 12,953$                   (2,169)$                -17% 1,348$            
Resident Services  $               9,328 2,546$                      6,782$                 266% 1,166$            
Total Operating Expenses  $          123,616  $                  113,863 9,754$                   9% 15,452$          

Net Operating Income  $             58,062  $                  100,681 (42,619)$              -42% 7,258$             

Replacement Reserves  None None
Debt Service  None None
Capital Expense  $               1,591 

Net Cash Flow  $             56,471  $                  100,681 (44,210)$              -44% 7,059$             

Debt Service Coverage Ratio N/A

Operating Expense PUPM  $               1,288  $                      1,186 
Operating Expense PUPY  $            15,452  $                   14,233 

Number of Units 8 (6+1 MGR+1 OFF)
Months In YTD 12

Parrot Gardens



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 120

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue 895,856$          939,084$          (43,228)$              -5% 7,465$            
Subsidy Revenue 3,271,658$      3,499,356$      (227,698)$           -7% 27,264$          
Vacancy Loss (108,660)$        (131,304)$        22,644$                -17% (906)$               
Other Gain/Loss 489,785$          -$                    489,785$             N/A 4,082$            
Other Income (37,296)$           (33,101)$           (4,195)$                 13% (311)$               
Total Operating Revenue 4,511,343$      4,274,035$      237,308$              6% 37,595$          

Administrative Expenses 297,146$          287,899$          9,247$                  3% 2,476$            
Utilities Expense 380,539$          340,812$          39,727$                12% 3,171$            
Operating and Maintenance 413,657$          366,160$          47,497$                13% 3,447$            
Taxes and Insurance 193,241$          205,589$          (12,348)$              -6% 1,610$            
Resident Services 49,373$            56,762$            (7,390)$                 -13% 411$                
Total Operating Expenses 1,333,956$      1,257,223$      76,733$                6% 11,116$          

Net Operating Income 3,177,387$      3,016,812$      160,575$              5% 26,478$          

Replacement Reserves 36,600$            36,600$            
Debt Service 987,744$          987,744$          
Capital Expense 130,966$          

Net Cash Flow 2,022,077$      1,992,468$      29,609$                1% 16,851$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 3.18 3.02

Operating Expense PUPM 926$                   873$                   
Operating Expense PUPY 11,116$            10,477$            

Number of Units 120
Months In YTD 12

Esperanza Apartments



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 25

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue  $            55,074 204,892$                 (149,818)$           -73% 2,203$            
Subsidy Revenue  $         356,333 353,493$                 2,840$                 1% 14,253$         
Vacancy Loss  $            (3,081) (13,524)$                  10,443$               -77% (123)$              
Other Gain/Loss  $         229,425  $                 117,827 111,598$            N/A 9,177$            
Other Income  $               4,277 847$                          3,430$                 405% 171$                
Total Operating Revenue  $          642,028  $                  663,535 (21,507)$              -3% 25,681$          

Administrative Expenses  $         135,654 120,292$                 15,362$               13% 5,426$            
Utilities Expense  $            32,980 27,763$                   5,217$                 19% 1,319$            
Operating and Maintenance  $            38,683 101,252$                 (62,569)$             -62% 1,547$            
Taxes and Insurance  $            29,606 80,845$                   (51,238)$             -63% 1,184$            
Resident Services  $            10,246 7,731$                      2,515$                 33% 410$                
Total Operating Expenses  $          247,169  $                  337,884 (90,714)$              -27% 9,887$             

Net Operating Income  $          394,859  $                  325,651 69,207$                21% 15,794$          

Replacement Reserves  None None
Debt Service  None None

Net Cash Flow  $          394,859  $                  325,651 69,207$                21% 15,794$          

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

Operating Expense PUPM  $               3,296 
Operating Expense PUPY  $            39,547 

Number of Units 25
Months In YTD 12

AHA-Scattered Sites



Income Statement Jul-Jun
Number of Units 27

Actual Budget
Actual-Budget 

($)
Actual-Budget 

(%)
PUPY

Rental Revenue  $         381,328 319,457$                 61,871$               19% 14,123$         
Subsidy Revenue  $         332,010 369,924$                 (37,914)$             -10% 12,297$         
Vacancy Loss  $          (79,254) (13,788)$                  (65,466)$             475% (2,935)$          
Other Gain/Loss  $          (10,513) (5)$                              (10,508)$             N/A (389)$              
Other Income  $               2,011 822$                          1,189$                 145% 74$                  
Total Operating Revenue  $          625,582  $                  676,411 (50,829)$              -8% 23,170$          

Administrative Expenses  $         155,718 168,495$                 (12,778)$             -8% 5,767$            
Utilities Expense  $            59,453 25,963$                   33,490$               129% 2,202$            
Operating and Maintenance  $            75,342 98,071$                   (22,729)$             -23% 2,790$            
Taxes and Insurance  $            41,847 84,324$                   (42,477)$             -50% 1,550$            
Resident Services  $               8,561 8,457$                      103$                     1% 317$                
Total Operating Expenses  $          340,921  $                  385,311 (44,390)$              -12% 12,627$          

Net Operating Income  $          284,661  $                  291,100 (6,439)$                 -2% 10,543$          

Replacement Reserves  None None
Debt Service  None None
Capital Expense 60,045$            

Net Cash Flow  $          224,617  $                  291,100 (66,483)$              -23% 8,319$             

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

Operating Expense PUPM  $               4,209 
Operating Expense PUPY  $            50,507 

Number of Units 27
Months In YTD 12

AAHC-Scattered Sites



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Nancy Gerardin, Director of Property Operations  

Prepared By: Nancy Gerardin, Director of Property Operations 

 
Date:  
  

August 21, 2024  

Re: Approve the Quarterly Write-off to June 30, 2024 of Uncollectible 
Accounts Receivable from Former Residents. 
5.C. 

 
BACKGROUND 
Periodically, the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda (AHA) or its affiliates, Alameda 
Affordable Housing Corporation (AAHC) and Island City Development (ICD), write-off 
uncollectible rent and miscellaneous charges from its resident ledgers. The term "write-off" 
indicates a procedure where past due amounts from residents, who are no longer residents in 
an AHA, AAHC, or ICD community, are removed from the resident ledgers after the usual 
means of collection have been exhausted.  This procedure does not preclude the AHA, 
AAHC, or ICD from continuing to pursue collection through a collection agency or other legal 
actions.  Future collection of amounts previously written-off will reduce these expenses.  
  
DISCUSSION 
This request is to write-off accounts receivable for residents who have voluntarily vacated, 
passed, or were evicted and had outstanding balances due to AAHC and ICD. A final notice 
will be sent to the respective resident(s) before the outstanding balance is written off. The 
total amount to be written off is $74,153.56 and presented in the attachment to this 
memorandum. This amount is a combination of past rents due, late fees, damages, and 
miscellaneous maintenance charges.  
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
This resident account write-off will result in an expense to AAHC of $5,900.56 and ICD of 
$68,253.00.  
  
CEQA 
N/A  
  
RECOMMENDATION 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
August 21, 2024 

  

Approve to write-off uncollectible accounts receivable from former residents.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
1. BOC Attachment Item 10.S Q2 2024 Write Off08082024v2 
  
Respectfully submitted, 
Nancy Gerardin 
Nancy Gerardin, Director of Property Operations 
 



L
eg

al
 E

n
ti

ty
P

ro
p

e
rt

y 
N

am
e

R
e

as
o

n
 f

o
r 

M
o

v
e 

O
u

t
M

o
v

e
 O

u
t 

D
at

e
A

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
B

ad
 D

e
b

t 
p

e
r 

re
c

o
n

ci
li

at
io

n
 

AA
H

C
Es

pe
ra

nz
a 

Ap
ar

tm
en

ts
Ev

ic
tio

n
4/

16
/2

02
4

$5
,7

67
.5

6
AA

H
C

In
de

pe
nd

en
ce

 P
la

za
As

si
st

ed
 L

iv
in

g
6/

21
/2

02
4

$1
33

.0
0

TO
TA

L 
AA

H
C

$5
,9

00
.5

6

IC
D

Li
ttl

e 
Jo

hn
 C

om
m

on
s

Ev
ic

tio
n

4/
23

/2
02

4
$1

4,
48

5.
00

IC
D

Li
ttl

e 
Jo

hn
 C

om
m

on
s

Ev
ic

tio
n

3/
26

/2
02

4
$4

0,
72

9.
00

IC
D

Ev
er

et
t C

om
m

on
s

Re
lo

ca
tin

g
2/

4/
20

24
$9

75
.0

0

IC
D

Ro
se

fie
ld

 V
ill

ag
e

Ev
ic

tio
n

5/
15

/2
02

4
$1

2,
06

4.
00

TO
TA

L 
IC

D
$6

8,
25

3.
00

TO
TA

L 
$7

4,
15

3.
56



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development  

Prepared By: Sarah Raskin, Housing Development Specialist 

 
Date:  
  

August 21, 2024  

Re: Accept the 2024 Local Housing Trust Fund Annual Reports. 
5.D. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In July 2021, the Alameda Affordable Housing Corporation (AAHC) created the Alameda 
Affordable Housing Trust Fund (AAHTF) to provide a permanent local funding source for 
affordable housing in the City of Alameda. The AAHTF was capitalized with a $7.5 million 
grant from the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda. Subsequently, the North Housing 
PSH projects (The Estuary I and The Estuary II) received $2.5 million in matching funds from 
the Local Housing Trust Fund (LHTF) Program on December 23, 2021, funded by the 
Veterans and Affordable Housing Bond Act of 2018 (Proposition 1) and administered by the 
California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD). Linnet Corner Senior 
Apartments received $1 million in matching funds from the LHTF program on October 2, 
2023. The Estuary I and II and Linnet Corner executed their Standard Agreements on 
January 10, 2023 and February 2, 2024, respectively.  
 
On March 28, 2024, The Estuary I submitted a Request for Funds (RFF) form to HCD for 
50% of the LHTF award, for the amount of $1.25 million and Linnet Corner submitted a RFF 
for 100% of the LHTF award, for the amount of $1 million. The AAHTF received the funds on 
behalf of The Estuary I and Linnet Corner on May 13, 2024 and May 16, 2024, respectively.   
  
DISCUSSION 
Senate Bill 3 (SB3) (Chapter 365, Statutes of 2017) allowed HCD to adopt guidelines instead 
of regulations for the LHTF program, establishing requirements for the administration of the 
program. HCD adopted guidelines in April 2020. Per Reporting Section 112 of the LHTF 
Guidelines, no later than July 31st of each year, a Grantee shall provide to HCD an annual 
report, in a format specified by HCD. Per Cancellation and Termination Section 111(c) of the 
LHTF Guidelines, failure to meet reporting requirements will result in a notice to the Grantee 
that it must satisfactorily cure any deficiencies within three months of the notice, or it will be 
ineligible for any additional LHTF award. 
 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
August 21, 2024 

  

AAHC, on behalf of AAHTF, must submit one annual report for each LHTF award to HCD. 
The annual reports document work undertaken or completed in the reporting period of July 1, 
2023 through June 30, 2024, and summarize activities planned to be undertaken in the 
upcoming reporting period. The reports also require financial summaries of the projects' use 
of funds from the award. The Fiscal Year 2023-2024 reports can be found on the AAHC 
website.  Please note that any red cells on the reports are due to funds not being fully utilized 
and are acceptable per HCD regulations.   
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
Not applicable.  
  
CEQA 
Not applicable.  
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Accept the 2024 Local Housing Trust Fund Annual Reports.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
None  
  
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Sylvia Martinez, Director of Housing Development 
 



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager  

Prepared By: Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager 

 
Date:  
  

August 21, 2024  

Re: Authorize the Executive Director to sign a contract Not To Exceed 
$339,250 with Pro-Ex Construction for Steel Stairs and Guardrail 
Upgrades At Esperanza, China Clipper, and Stanford House. 
5.E. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In late 2022, the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda (AHA) contracted a Capital Needs 
Assessment Consultant, Physical Property Analysis LLC (PPA), to complete inspections at 
various AHA portfolio properties. Noted in the reports from PPA were various building code 
deficiencies related to stair handrail and guardrail structures and related components at 
Esperanza, China Clipper, Lincoln House and Stanford House.  
  
DISCUSSION 
Capital Needs Assessment Inspections were completed in late 2022 at the Esperanza, China 
Clipper, Lincoln House and Stanford House properties by Physical Property Analysis LLC.  In 
general, the report noted that these properties have existing stairs with components that do 
not meet the current building code. The proposed upgrades will remediate these code 
deficiencies. 
 
Staff prepared and issued an RFP (Request for Proposals) soliciting bids for the work 
identified above and received 1 bid from Pro-Ex Construction. As a result of receiving only 1 
proposal, staff contracted with a cost analysis consultant, Leland Saylor Associates (LSA), to 
complete an independent cost analysis of the proposed scope of work. The cost analysis 
consultant required scale drawings, plan and elevation views, to accurately estimate the cost. 
Due to the age of these properties, AHA did not have the required drawings with appropriate 
information available. AHA further contracted with Architectural firm Barry and Wynn to 
provide the drawings and dimension documents required by LSA. The LSA cost analysis was 
received and reflected a cost projection of up to $390,454, significantly above the proposal 
received from Pro-Ex Construction of $294,995.  
 
The staff expects to negotiate the contract and have the contractor mobilize and begin the 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
August 21, 2024 

  

remediation work by the end of September 2024. 
 
Prior to contractor mobilization, the staff and contractor will host a meeting with the residents 
to update them on the schedule as well as address what to expect during the process. The 
duration of time for the work on site is expected to be nine weeks. A schedule will be 
published, posted in a public place, and three notices (2 week, 1 week, 48 hrs.) will be posted 
on residents' and adjacent neighbors' doors prior to repairs being made, as well as, a notice 
of completion once the work is done. 
  
The goal of this renovation is to address current and urgent needs. Additional work can be 
performed on an annual or biannual basis to keep the structures in good condition.  
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
Esperanza, China Clipper, Lincoln House, and Stanford House have multiple sources of 
reserves and funds to cover the costs of these repairs, which include cash flow and AHA 
reserves. This line item was included in the approved Fiscal Year 2024-25 Budget. 
 
The cost of the repairs, plus a 15% contingency for unanticipated costs or additional scope, is 
anticipated to be $339,250.    
 
With the Board of Director’s approval, staff will use current cash flow and the AHA reserves 
for the work and seek reimbursement from the lender reserves as available.     
  
CEQA 
Not Applicable.  
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Accept Report for Steel Handrail and Guardrail Upgrades at Esperanza, China Clipper, 
Lincoln House and Stanford House and Approve Executive Director to Procure, Negotiate, 
and Sign a Contract for Upgrades and Related Costs Not to Exceed $339,250.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
1. STEEL UPGRADES AT ESP, CC, LH, SH DRAFT AHA CONTRACT 08222024 
  
Respectfully submitted, 

  
Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager 
 



Construction Services Agreement

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA 
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT

RECITALS

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE; DEFINITIONS



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

ARTICLE 2
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

ARTICLE 3
PAYMENT AND RECORD KEEPING REQUIREMENTS



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

ARTICLE 4
TERM; DEFAULT; REMEDIES



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

ARTICLE 5
PARTIES' DISPUTES



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

ARTICLE 6
FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

ARTICLE 7
GENERAL PROVISIONS



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]                                                                                                     



Construction Services Agreement

AUTHORITY

CONTRACTOR

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT A

SCOPE OF WORK

Scope #1
Esperanza Apartments
1901 3rd Street, Alameda, CA 94501 

Price for labor, fabrication, installation, materials, paint: $72,756 

Scope #2
China Clipper Plaza Apartments
460 Buena Vista Avenue, Alameda, CA 94501 



Construction Services Agreement

Price for labor, fabrication, installation, materials, paint: $166,218

Scope #3
Lincoln House 
745 Lincoln Avenue, Alameda, CA 94501 v                                                                                                  

Price for labor, fabrication, installation, materials, paint: $26,696 

Scope #4
Stanford House
1917 Stanford Street, Alameda, CA 94501

Price for labor, fabrication, installation, materials, paint: $29,325.00 



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT B

LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS

PRO-EX CONSTRUCTION TO USE IN HOUSE LABOR



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT C

CONTRACTOR SCHEDULE OF VALUES, QUALIFICATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

Total-           $294,955.00 



CL #959719

B, C-33, C-39

DIR# 10000015770

CERTIFIED SB # 2000579

EPA#NAT-F15366-1

BIDS@PROEXCONSTRUCTION.COM

PROPOSAL
PROJECT: GUARDRAIL & STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK

DATE: 11/29/2023

TO: HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA

ADDENDUM NOTED: N/A

BID AMOUNT: $307,120 (SEE INCULSION, EXCLUSIONS & CLARIFICATION BELOW)

PROPOSAL
INCLUDES: (LABOR , MATERIALS  & EQUIPMENT )

SCOPE # 1 $72,756.00

SCOPE # 2 $166,218.00

SCOPE # 3 $26,696.00

SCOPE # 4 $12,125.00

SCOPE # 5 $29,325.00

EXCLUDES: N/A

CLARIFICATIONS: N/A

SPECIAL CONDITIONS: N/A

ANY ALTERATION OR DEVIATION FROM THE ABOVE SPECIFICATIONS INVOLVING EXTRA COST OF 

MATERIAL OR LABOR WIL BECOME AN EXTRA CHARGE OVER THE SUM MENTIONED IN THIS PROPOSAL.

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL: THIS PROPOSAL SHALL BECOME AN ADDENDUM TO A PART OF SAID CONTRACT.

THIS PROPOSAL IS GOOD FOR A PERIOD OF 30 DAYS.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED BY,

PAVEL CHERNYY

PRESIDENT

BID AMOUNT: (SEE INCULSION, EXCLUSIONS & CLARIFICATION BELOW)$307,120













Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT D

LIST OF PLANS











Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT E

GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (FORM HUD-5370)









































Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT F

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

General Requirements

Contractor



Construction Services Agreement

Subcontractors



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT G

DAVIS BACON WAGE RATES

NOT APPLICABLE AS THE CONTRACT AMOUNT IS LESS THAN $ 60,000 



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT H

AHA SECTION 3 POLICY

SECTION 3 ONLY APPLICABLE WHEN CONTRACTOR HIRES STAFF FOR THIS 
CONTRACTED WORK



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT I

SECTION 3 CERTIFICATION



Construction Services Agreement



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT J

NOTICE FOR AFFIRMATIVE ACTION TO ENSURE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY UNDER EXECUTIVE ORDER 11246, AND THE STANDARD 

FEDERAL EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
SPECIFICATIONS



Executive Order 11246, As Amended 
Executive Order 11246 — Equal Employment 
Opportunity 

Part I — Nondiscrimination in Government 
Employment 

Part II - Nondiscrimination in 
Employment by Government Contractors 
and Subcontractors 

Subpart A – Duties of the Secretary of Labor 

SEC. 201 

Subpart B – Contractors’ Agreements 

SEC. 202 





SEC. 203 





SEC. 204



Subpart C – Powers and Duties of the Secretary of Labor and 
the Contracting Agencies

SEC. 205

SEC. 206

SEC. 207 

SEC. 208 



Subpart D – Sanctions and Penalties

SEC. 209 



SEC. 210 

SEC. 211 

SEC. 212 

Subpart E – Certificates of Merit 

SEC. 213 



SEC. 214 

SEC. 215 

Part III – Nondiscrimination Provisions in Federally Assisted 
Construction Contracts 

SEC. 301 

SEC. 302 



SEC. 303



SEC. 304

Part IV – Miscellaneous 

SEC. 401 

SEC. 402 

SEC. 403 



SEC. 404 

SEC. 405 



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT K

SCHEDULE



PR
O

PE
RT

Y
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

SH
O

P 
FA

BR
IC

AT
IO

N
C

H
IN

A 
C

LI
PP

ER
 

ES
PE

RA
N

ZA
LI

N
C

O
LN

 H
O

U
SE

ST
AN

FO
RD

 H
O

U
SE

D
EM

O
BI

LI
ZA

TI
O

N

ST
EE

L 
ST

AI
R 

H
AN

D
RA

IL
 A

N
D

 G
UA

RD
RA

IL
 R

EP
AI

RS
W

EE
K 

3
W

EE
K 

2
W

EE
K 

1
W

EE
K 

9
W

EE
K 

8
W

EE
K 

7
W

EE
K 

6
W

EE
K 

5
W

EE
K 

4



Construction Services Agreement

EXHIBIT L

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED FOR REFERENCE FROM RFP





1.0 AHA’S RESERVATION OF RIGHTS .......................................................................................... 6

1.1. Right to Reject, Waive or Terminate the RFP ............................................................... 6
1.2. Right Not to Award........................................................................................................ 6
1.3. Right to Terminate......................................................................................................... 6
1.4. Right to Determine Time and Location ......................................................................... 6
1.5. Right to Determine Financial Responsibility and Viability ........................................... 6
1.6. Right to Retain Written Proposals ................................................................................ 6
1.7. Right to Negotiate Fees................................................................................................. 6
1.8. No Obligation to Compensate....................................................................................... 6
1.9. Right to Amend Prior to Award..................................................................................... 6
1.10. Right to Reject Any Proposal........................................................................................ 8
1.11. Right to Prohibit Further Participation.......................................................................... 7
1.12. Public Disclosure of Proposal Documents................................................................... 8

2.0 GENERAL/ TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS............................................................................... 8

2.1. Proposed Term.............................................................................................................. 8
2.2. Number of Proposers to be Selected............................................................................ 8
2.3. Funding .....................................................................................................................................8
2.4. Federal Requirements ................................................................................................... 8
2.5. Form of Contract. .......................................................................................................... 8
2.6. Submittal Deadline ........................................................................................................ 9
2.7. Proposal Review ........................................................................................................... 9
2.8. Award ........................................................................................................................................9

3.0 SCOPE   OF   SERVICES…………………………..........................………………………………………9

4.0 PROPOSAL      FORMAT………………………..........................………………………………………….9

4.1 Proposal Submittal........................................................................................................ 9

4.2. Organization of Submitted Materials ..........................................................................13
4.3. Submission Conditions……………………………………………………. .......................... 11
4.4. Submission Responsibilities ......................................................................................14
4.5. Supportive Documents ...............................................................................................14
4.6. Proprietary Information ...............................................................................................14
4.7. Eligible to Conduct Business in California ................................................................. 14
4.8. Proposer's Responsibilities--Contact with the AHA...................................................14
4.9. Addenda..................................................................................................................................15



4.10. Recap of Attachments................................................................................................. 15

5.0 PROPOSAL      EVALUATION…………………………………………………….............................…..16

5.1. Evaluation Factors. .......................................................................................16
5.2. Evaluation Method ........................................................................................17

6.0 APPEALS………………………………………………………………..........................………………17

6.1. Submission………………………,………………………............................…………………..17

6.2 Conflict of   Interest………….……………………………............................………………….17

7.0 CONTRACT      AWARD………………………………………..........................…………………………17

7.1. Contract Award Procedure ............................................................................17
7.2. Contract Conditions .......................................................................................18
7.3. Right to Negotiate Final Fees.........................................................................23

7.4. ContractService Standards………….……...........................……………………….…… 23
7.5. Attachments…………………………………..................................………………….… ......23

























ex parte

























 





  

  

  
that is not otherwise

stated herein

  





(1)    (this form must be completed by and for each)

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 



 

 

 

 

 





ESPERANZA 
APARTMENTS-
1901 3rd St. Alameda, Ca 
Unit 266 D Supply and Install (13) steel stair risers 6" X 40" 

Fabricate and Install (2) 17 LF code compliant handrails at exterior stairs
Unit 266 C Supply and Install (13) steel stair risers 6" X 40" 

Fabricate and Install (2) 17 LF code compliant handrails at exterior stairs
Unit 219 D Supply and Install (13) steel stair risers 6" X 40" 

Fabricate and Install (2) 17 LF code compliant handrails at exterior stairs
Unit 219 C Supply and Install (13) steel stair risers 6" X 40" 

Fabricate and Install (2) 17 LF code compliant handrails at exterior stairs
Unit 167 A Supply and Install (13) steel stair risers 6" X 40" 

Fabricate and Install (2) 17 LF code compliant handrails at exterior stairs
unit 167 C Supply and Install (13) steel stair risers 6" X 40" 

Fabricate and Install (2) 17 LF code compliant handrails at exterior stairs

CHINA CLIPPER APARTMENTS-                                  
460 Buena Vista Ave, Alameda, 
Ca.
Interior Entry Lobby 1st -3rd Floor   
Stairs/Landings 

Selective demo of the existing non-compliant guardrails and handrails. 
Fabricate and Install new code-compliant guardrails and handrails. 
Approx. 200 LF 

Exterior Side Stairs/Landings                           
1st-3rd Floor  

Selective demo of the existing non-compliant guardrails and handrails. 
Fabricate and Install new code-compliant guardrails and handrails. 
Approx. 220 LF 

Rear Stairs/Landings and 
Walkways 1st-3rd Floors 

Selective demo of the existing non-compliant guardrails and handrails. 
Fabricate and Install new code-compliant guardrails and handrails. 
Approx. 120 LF 



 

LINCOLN HOUSE-                                                           
745 Lincoln Ave. Alameda, Ca. 

Fabricate and Install new code-compliant handrails. 1st to 2nd 
Floor exterior stairs. Approx. 60 LF

ANNE B. DIAMENTE PLAZA                                                                                   
920 Park St. Alameda, Ca.  
Exterior Side Stairs/Landings                           
1st-3rd Floor  

Selective demo of the existing non-compliant guardrails and 
handrails. Fabricate and Install new code-compliant guardrails and 
handrails. Approx 220 LF 

Exterior Rear Stairs/Landings                           
1st-3rd Floors 

Selective demo of the existing non-compliant guardrails and 
handrails. Fabricate and Install new code-compliant guardrails and 
handrails. Approx 220 LF 

Community Room Fabricate and install(2) code-compliant handrails. Approx. 20LF

STANFORD HOUSE-
1917 Stanford St. Alameda, Ca. 

Fabricate and Install new code-compliant stair handrails                                     
@ 5 stair locations. Approx. 100 LF.  

PARROT GARDENS-
1843, 1845 and 1849 Bay St.                                    
1850, 1854, 1858, 1862 and 1864                        
St. Charles St. Alameda, Ca. 

Fabricate and Install new code-compliant stair handrails                                     
@ 11 locations. Approx 6 LF ea. 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

2 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

3 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

4 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

5 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

6 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

7 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

8 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

9 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Safety Precautions and Programs.



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

10 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

11 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

12 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

13 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

14 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

15 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

16 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

17 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

18 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

19 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

20 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

21 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

22 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

23 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

24 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

25 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

26 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

27 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

28 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

29 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

30 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

31 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

32 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

S-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

A-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

B-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

C-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

D-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

E-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

F-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

F-2 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

F-3 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

G-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

H-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

I-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

I-2

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

J-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

K-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PR
O

PE
RT

Y
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

M
T

W
TH

F
M

T
W

TH
F

SH
O

P 
FA

BR
IC

AT
IO

N
C

H
IN

A 
C

LI
PP

ER
 

ES
PE

RA
N

ZA
LI

N
C

O
LN

 H
O

U
SE

ST
AN

FO
RD

 H
O

U
SE

D
EM

O
BI

LI
ZA

TI
O

N

ST
EE

L 
ST

AI
R 

H
AN

D
RA

IL
 A

N
D

 G
UA

RD
RA

IL
 R

EP
AI

RS
W

EE
K 

3
W

EE
K 

2
W

EE
K 

1
W

EE
K 

9
W

EE
K 

8
W

EE
K 

7
W

EE
K 

6
W

EE
K 

5
W

EE
K 

4



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

L-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

1 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

2 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

3 



PMRFP08282023     GUARDRAIL AND STAIR HANDRAIL RENOVATION WORK      Issued: August 28, 2023 

4 



Construction Services Agreement

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA, 
A PUBLIC BODY, CORPORATE AND POLITIC

AND

PRO-EX CONSTRUCTION, INC.,
A CALIFORNIA CORPRATION



TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page

ARTICLE 1 PURPOSE; DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE 2 CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

ARTICLE 3 PAYMENT AND RECORD KEEPING REQUIREMENTS

ARTICLE 4 TERM; DEFAULT; REMEDIES

ARTICLE 5 PARTIES' DISPUTES



TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

Page

Construction Services Agreement

ARTICLE 6 FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS

ARTICLE 7 GENERAL PROVISIONS



TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)

Page

Construction Services Agreement



  

 

 
 
To: Board of Directors 
From:  
  

Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager  

Prepared By: Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager 

 
Date:  
  

August 21, 2024  

Re: Authorize the Executive Director to Execute a Contract and Change 
Orders with Athens General Construction for a Not To Exceed Amount 
of $400,000 for Exterior Repairs at Independence Plaza. 
5.F. 

 
BACKGROUND 
As part of the Faircloth to RAD refinancing conversion, the Housing Authority of the City of 
Alameda (AHA) contracted a consultant, Dominion Group, to complete a Capital Needs 
Assessment for the Independence Plaza property. Noted in this report was the following 
recommendation: "an observably significant portion of the painted wood siding and trim work 
throughout all the apartment buildings was observed in poor physical condition, with areas of 
rotting, swelling, excessive gapping, holes, and overall deterioration. Replacement of 
approximately 30% of the siding and trim work is recommended. It should be noted that 
portions of the building feature newer, cedar shake-style siding which was observed in good 
physical condition. Due to the potential scope of this repair, obtaining multiple contractor bids 
is recommended to remove and replace painted wood siding and trim." The consultant 
provided an estimate of approximately $370,000 for this scope.  
  
DISCUSSION 
AHA staff inspected the 5 buildings at Independence Plaza to determine the base scope for 
siding and trim repair scope. AHA issued an RFP for the siding and trim repair scope, and 4 
proposals were received. Athens Construction was the preferred contractor and a contract 
was executed for the amount of $102,815.00. This limited initial scope was contracted to get 
the project started, and to do the demolition to see what repairs were needed. 
 
The siding and trim work has begun and further damage, beyond the contracted scope, is 
being found. The additional damage includes unforeseen water-damaged building envelope 
components, (paper and flashing), framing damage, and potential termite damage.  
 
The existing siding is also a discontinued product and replacement of damaged sections 
cannot be executed on a piecemeal basis, without an unattractive 'patched' appearance. 



AAHC Board of Directors Meeting  Page 2 
August 21, 2024 

  

Where damaged existing siding is being replaced, the replacements now need to take place 
in significantly higher square footage, replacing corner to corner. The change orders will 
cover the required envelope and framing repairs as well as the additional siding square 
footage.  
 
A pest control firm will also be contracted to assess and remediate any termite infestations, 
when identified, as a separate scope of work. 
 
Each location will be demolished and assessed as to the extent of repairs. Staff recommends 
that change orders be signed up to a total cost of $400,000, if this amount is approved by the 
Board.  This substantial and good faith effort to improve the exteriors will allow the project to 
move forward under the HUD transaction. The need for another tranche of work will be 
evaluated in several years' time to continue keeping the building envelope in good condition.  
  
FISCAL IMPACT 
With the Board approval, staff will use current cash flow and the AHA reserves for the work 
and seek reimbursement from the lender reserves as available. These renovations are a 
requirement of preparing the property for HUD's review of the Faircloth to RAD refinancing 
proposal.  
  
CEQA 
None  
  
RECOMMENDATION 
Authorize the Executive Director to Execute a Contract and Change Orders with Athens 
General Construction for a Not To Exceed Amount of $400,000 for Exterior Repairs at 
Independence Plaza.  
  
ATTACHMENTS 
1. IP Siding, Trim, and Laundry Sink Repairs AHA Contract 20240503 
  
Respectfully submitted, 

  
Joseph Nagel, Construction Project Manager 
 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA 
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT

This Construction Services Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into as of May 3, 
2024 (the "Effective Date"), by and between the Housing Authority of the City Alameda, a 
public body, corporate and politic ("Authority"), and Athens General Construction LLC, a 
Limited Liability Corporation ("Contractor," and together with Authority, collectively, the 
"Parties"), with reference to the following facts: 

RECITALS

A. These Recitals refer to and utilize certain capitalized terms that are defined in 
Article 1 of this Agreement.  The Parties intend to refer to those definitions in connection with 
the use of capitalized terms in these Recitals.

B. On April 2, 2024, Authority issued the RFP for the Work.  Thereafter, on April 
30, 2024, Authority selected Contractor to perform the Work in accordance with the RFP. 

C. Contractor has represented to Authority that Contractor has the necessary skill 
and expertise to perform the Work. 

D. The Parties wish to enter into this Agreement to memorialize their agreement as 
to the specific requirements regarding the renovation and modernization project at the Property. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE; DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Purpose. 

The purpose of this Agreement is to authorize Contractor to take actions necessary to 
perform the Work on the Property.  Contractor hereby agrees to perform the Work in compliance 
with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, within the time periods provided by the 
Schedule, and for the costs set forth on the Contractor Schedule of Values. 

Section 1.2 Definitions. 

The following capitalized terms have the meanings set forth in this Section 1.2 wherever 
used in this Agreement, unless otherwise provided: 

(a) "Acceptance Certificate" shall have the mean set forth in Section 2.9(b) of 
this Agreement. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

2 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(b) "Agreement" shall mean this Construction Services Agreement and all 
exhibits. 

(c) "Application for Payment" shall have the meaning set forth in 
Section 3.3(b) of this Agreement. 

(d) "Architect" shall mean NOT APPLICABLE. 

(e) "Authority" shall mean the Housing Authority of the City of Alameda, a 
public body, corporate and politic, its successors and assigns. 

(f) "Change Order" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.11 of this 
Agreement. 

(g) "City" shall mean the City of Alameda, California. 

(h) "Contract Documents" shall mean this Agreement (including all exhibits 
attached hereto), the General Conditions, and the Plans. 

(i) "Contracting Officer" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.7 of 
this Agreement. 

(j) "Contractor" shall mean Athens General Construction LLC, a Sole 
Proprietorship. 

(k) "Contract Sum" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(a) of this 
Agreement. 

(l) "Contract Time" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.9(b) of this 
Agreement. 

(m) "Cost of the Work" shall mean the costs and expenses incurred by, or on 
behalf of, Contractor in connection with the performance of the Work, as more particularly 
described in Section 3.1 of this Agreement. 

(n) "DIR" shall mean the State of California Department of Industrial 
Relations. 

(o) "Effective Date" shall have the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of 
this Agreement. 

(p) "General Conditions" shall mean Form HUD-5370 (11/20/2023), General 
Conditions for Construction Contract, attached to this Agreement as Exhibit E. 

(q) "Guaranteed Maximum Price" shall have the meaning set forth in 
Section 3.1(a) of this Agreement. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

3 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(r) "HUD" shall mean the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development. 

(s) "Notice to Proceed" shall mean the notice to be issued by Authority to 
Contractor to establish the date for the commencement of the Work. 

(t) "Parties" shall mean, collectively, Authority and Contractor. 

(u) "Party" shall mean either Authority or Contractor. 

(v) "Plans" shall mean the plans and specifications as set forth on Exhibit D. 

(w) "Potential Claimants" shall have the meaning set forth in 
Section 3.4(a)(iii) of this Agreement. 

(x) "Property" shall mean the real property located in the City of Alameda 
commonly known as Independence Plaza- 703, 705, 707, 709, and 711 Atlantic Avenue, 
Alameda, Ca. 94501., owned by Authority, on which Contractor shall perform the Work.                                                                                      

(y) "Residential Tenants" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a)(i) 
of this Agreement. 

(z) "Retention Amount" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(a) of 
this Agreement. 

(aa) "RFP" shall mean the Request for Proposals, issued by Authority on April 
2, 2024, and Contractor's response, dated April 26, 2024, each of which are attached to this 
Agreement as Exhibit L, and incorporated into this Agreement by this reference. 

(bb) "Schedule" shall mean the schedule for performance of the Work, attached 
to this Agreement as Exhibit K, as the Parties may revise from time to time, pursuant to a 
Change Order. 

(cc) "Section 3" shall mean Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development 
Act of 1968, 12 U.S.C. 1701u, and its implementing regulations at 24 CFR Part 75. 

(dd) "Section 3 Certification" shall mean Contractor's certification regarding 
Section 3 compliance, a form of which is attached to this Agreement as Exhibit I. 

(ee) "Section 3 Policy" shall mean Authority's policy for complying with 
Section 3, attached to this Agreement as Exhibit I. 

(ff) "Subcontractor" shall mean any subcontractor under direct contract with 
Contractor as more particularly described in Section 2.4(a) of this Agreement. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

4 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(gg) "Substantial Completion" shall mean the stage in the progress of the Work 
where the work is sufficiently complete in accordance with this Agreement and all other Contract 
Documents so that the work may be utilized for its intended use as evidenced by the Acceptance 
Certificate.

(hh) "Work" shall mean, collectively:  (i) Siding and Trim 
Replacement/Repairs on the Property, as more particularly set forth in Exhibit A, and as set forth 
on the Plans;  (ii) Laundry Room Accessible Sinks Renovations on the Property, as more 
particularly set forth in Exhibit A, and as set forth on the Plans; and (iii) all other construction 
and services required by the Contract Documents or reasonably inferable by Contractor as 
necessary to produce the results intended by the Contract Documents (including all labor, 
materials, equipment, and services provided or to be provided by Contractor to fulfill 
Contractor's obligations). 

Section 1.3 Exhibits. 

The following exhibits are attached to this Agreement and incorporated into this 
Agreement by this reference:

Exhibit A: Scope of Work 

Exhibit B: List of Subcontractors 

Exhibit C: Contractor Schedule of Values; Qualifications and Exclusions 

Exhibit D: List of Plans 

Exhibit E: General Conditions for Construction Contract (Form HUD-5370) 

Exhibit F: Insurance Requirements

Exhibit G: Davis Bacon Wage Rates

Exhibit H: AHA Section 3 Policy

Exhibit I: Section 3 Certification

Exhibit J: Notice for Affirmative Action to Ensure Equal Employment Opportunity 
under Executive Order 11246, and the Standard Federal Equal 
Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications 

Exhibit K: Schedule 

Exhibit L: Documents incorporated for reference from RFP



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

5 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

ARTICLE 2
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES

Section 2.1 Scope of Work. 

Contractor shall perform the Work as set forth in the Plans provided to Contractor by 
Authority. 

Section 2.2 Responsibility for Performance of the Work. 

(a) Contractor Responsibilities.  Contractor shall manage all activities 
associated with the performance of the Work in accordance with this Agreement, including, but 
not limited to, the following activities: 

(i) In addition to the other requirements set forth herein, Contractor 
shall employ a full-time superintendent to be on the jobsite at all times during the progress of the 
Work.  The superintendent shall represent Contractor, and communications given to the 
superintendent shall be as binding as if given to Contractor.  Important communications shall be 
confirmed in writing.  Other communications shall be similarly confirmed on written request in 
each case.  Authority shall have the right to approve the superintendent.  If Contractor removes 
the superintendent, Authority shall have the right to approve the replacement superintendent, 
which shall not be unreasonably denied. 

(ii) Contractor shall conduct weekly job site meeting with Authority's 
representative to keep Authority informed of the progress of the Work.  Contractor shall provide 
Authority copies of minutes of any job site meetings. 

(iii) Contractor shall be solely responsible for and have control over the 
means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures and for coordinating all portions of the 
Work under this Agreement. 

(iv) Subject to Authority's obligation to disburse funds set forth in 
Section 3.3(c) of this Agreement, Contractor shall make, or cause to be made, payment of all 
monies due and legally owing to all persons doing any work, furnishing any materials or 
supplies, or renting any equipment to Contractor or any of its Subcontractors in connection with 
performance of the Work, within ten (10) calendar days following receipt of payment from 
Authority. 

(v) Contractor shall be responsible to Authority for acts and omissions 
of Contractor's employees, Subcontractors and their agents and employees, and other persons or 
entities performing portions of the Work for or on behalf of Contractor or any of its 
Subcontractors and for any damages, losses, costs, expenses, including but not limited to 
attorneys' fees resulting from such acts and omissions.  In accordance with Section 1810 of the 
California Labor Code, Contractor acknowledges that eight (8) hours of labor constitutes a legal 
day's work. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

6 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

In no event shall Contractor contract with any party which has been debarred or suspended by 
HUD under 29 CFR 5.12 or by the State of California’s Department of Industrial Relations, 
Division of Labor Standards Enforcement (DLSE).  A current list of individuals the DLSE is 
available at https://www.dir.ca.gov/dlse/debar.html. 

(b) Use of Site.  Only materials and equipment that are to be used directly in 
the Work shall be brought to and stored on the Property by Contractor.  After equipment is no 
longer required for the Work, it shall be promptly removed from the Property.  Contractor shall 
take reasonable precautions and measures to protect materials and equipment stored at the 
Property from weather, theft, and damage, and Contractor shall be solely liable for any loss or 
damage to such materials and equipment.  Contractor shall ensure that the Work, at all times, is 
performed in a manner that affords reasonable access, both vehicular and pedestrian, to the site 
of the Work and all adjacent areas.  The Work shall be performed, to the fullest extent 
reasonably possible, in such manner that public areas adjacent to the Property of the Work shall 
be free from all debris, building materials, and equipment likely to cause hazardous conditions. 

Section 2.3 Contractor Representations and Warranties. 

(a) Representations and Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants the 
following to Authority (in addition to any other representations and warranties contained in this
Agreement) as a material inducement to Authority to execute this Agreement: 

(i) Contractor, and to the best of Contractor's knowledge, its 
Subcontractors, are financially solvent, able to pay all debts as they mature, and possessed of 
sufficient working capital to complete the Work and perform all obligations hereunder; 

(ii) Contractor is able to furnish the plant, tools, materials, supplies, 
equipment, and labor itself or through its Subcontractors required to complete the Work and 
perform its obligations hereunder, and has sufficient experience and competence to do so; 

(iii) Contractor is authorized to do business in the State of California 
and is properly licensed by all necessary governmental and public and quasi-public authorities 
having jurisdiction over Contractor and over the Work.  Contractor's license number is 
#1002078; 

(iv) Contractor's execution of this Agreement and performance thereof 
is within Contractor's duly authorized powers; 

(v) Contractor is a sophisticated contractor who possesses a high level 
of experience and expertise in the business administration, construction, construction 
management, and superintendence of projects of the size, complexity, and nature of this 
particular project, and will perform the Work with the care, skill, and diligence of such a 
contractor;



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

7 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(vi) Except as disclosed to Authority in writing, there are no claims, 
actions, investigations, suits, or proceedings pending affecting Contractor's performance under 
the Contract Documents; and  

(vii) All financial information delivered to Authority, including all 
information relating to the financial condition of Contractor or any of its partners, joint venturers, 
or members (as applicable), fairly and accurately represents the financial condition being 
reported on as of its date.  All such information is prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles consistently applied, unless otherwise noted.  There has been no 
material adverse change in the financial condition of any of the persons described above-reported 
at any time to Authority, except as previously disclosed to Authority in writing in later financial 
information and found acceptable to Authority in its sole and absolute discretion. 

(b) Survival.  The foregoing representations and warranties shall survive the 
execution and delivery of this Agreement and any termination of this Agreement. 

Section 2.4 Subcontractors. 

(a) List of Subcontractors.  Contractor's list of approved Subcontractors for 
the performance of the Work, and each of the Subcontractor's license numbers, is set forth on 
Exhibit B.  In the event Contractor desires to replace any Subcontractor pursuant to Section 4107 
of the California Public Contract Code, then Contractor shall notify Authority in writing, and, 
Authority shall then follow the process set forth in Section 4107(a) of the California Public 
Contract Code.  Thereafter, if requested by Authority in writing, Contractor shall provide 
Authority with a draft copy of its form subcontract, and disclose to Authority the name, trade, 
and subcontract amounts for each subcontractor prior to the proposed subcontractor's 
performance of any portion of the Work.  Subcontractors shall have the required licenses and 
expertise necessary to perform the proposed subcontract work.  Authority will promptly reply to 
Contractor in writing stating whether or not Authority, after due investigation, has reasonable 
objection to any such proposed person or entity.  Provided Authority has not objected to the 
proposed subcontractor, such person or entity shall be deemed a "Subcontractor."  Contractor 
shall not contract with a proposed person or entity to whom Authority has made reasonable and 
timely objection, or an entity that has been debarred by the DIR.  If any contract between 
Contractor and a Subcontractor is materially altered so that it differs from the form subcontract 
provided to Authority with regard to terms other than (1) the description of the Work to be 
performed pursuant to the subcontract, and (2) the subcontract price, that subcontract shall be 
submitted to Authority for its review prior to the commencement of applicable portion of the 
Work. 

(b) Subcontracts.  By appropriate agreement Contractor shall require each 
Subcontractor, to the extent of the work to be performed by the Subcontractor, to be bound to 
Contractor by terms of this Agreement and to assume toward Contractor all the obligations and 
responsibilities, including the responsibility for safety of the Subcontractor's work, which 
Contractor, by this Agreement, assumes toward Authority.  Each subcontract shall, among other 
matters:  (i) require that the work be performed in accordance with the requirements of this 
Agreement; (ii) require the Subcontractor to carry and maintain liability insurance in accordance 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

8 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

with this Agreement; and, (iii) shall specifically provide that Authority is an intended third-party 
beneficiary of such subcontract and that the Subcontractor recognizes the rights of Authority to 
take an assignment of its subcontract after termination of this Agreement by Authority on default 
of Contractor. 

Section 2.5 Payment and Performance Bonds. 

Prior to commencement of the Work, Contractor shall deliver to Authority copies of labor 
and material (payment) bonds and performance (general contractor bond) bonds for the Work in 
an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the scheduled costs of the Work.  Said bonds 
shall comply with the requirements of Section 9550 et seq. of the California Civil Code and shall 
be issued by an insurance company which is licensed to do business in California and has a 
rating equivalent to AAA or AA+ by an insurance company listed in the current year's list of 
"Surety Companies Acceptable on Federal Bonds" as published in the Federal Register by the 
Audit Staff Bureau of Accounts, U.S. Treasury Department, and for amounts which are not in 
excess of the acceptable amount set forth on such list for the respective surety.  The bonds shall 
name Authority as a co-obligee or assignee.

Section 2.6 Right of Entry; Job Site Facilities. 

(a) Right of Entry.  Authority hereby grants Contractor a right to enter the 
Property for the purpose of performing the Work.  This right of entry may be exercised by 
Contractor, and its employees, agents, and Subcontractors.  This right of entry will terminate 
upon the sooner to occur of: (i) completion of the Work; or (ii) the occurrence of an event of 
default under this Agreement. 

(b) No Liens.  Contractor and all Subcontractors and all material suppliers are 
prohibited from placing any liens on the Property; provided, however nothing in this 
Section 2.6(b) shall be deemed to prohibit the filing of a stop notice. 

(c) Signs.  Subject to prior approval of Authority as to size, design, type and 
location, and to local regulations, Contractor and its Subcontractors may erect temporary signs 
for purposes of identification and, to the extent applicable, controlling traffic.  Contractor shall 
furnish, erect, and maintain such signs as may be required by safety regulations and as necessary 
to safeguard life and property.  Contractor shall comply with all applicable CAL OSHA 
standards. 

(d) Job Site Facilities.  In addition to the requirements set forth in Section 17 
of the General Conditions, Contractor may provide a jobsite trailer and portable sanitary 
facilities.  This office will be located so as to cause no interference to any Work to be performed 
on the Property.  Contractor shall consult with Authority with regard to location.  Unless 
otherwise agreed to by the Parties, upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall remove all 
such temporary structures and facilities from the Property.  On-site storage will be permitted, as 
a convenience to Contractor, in areas designated by Authority for such purposes.  Contractor 
shall take reasonable security measures to protect against theft and vandalism.  Contractor is 
responsible for Contractor owned tools and equipment.  Except for damage due to Contractor's 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

9 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

negligence or willful misconduct, damage or vandalism to the Improvements, products at the 
Property, in storage or in transit shall be covered by the builder's risk policy, described in 
Section 7.19 of this Agreement.  Contractor may, at its option and expense, rent off-site facilities 
for the storage and securing of its materials. 

Section 2.7 Safety Precautions and Programs. 

(a) Contractor Responsibility.  In addition to the requirements set forth in 
Section 13 of the General Conditions, Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining 
and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the performance of the 
Work and for providing safe conditions for the performance of the Work.  Authority shall have 
no liability or responsibility for the physical condition or safety of the site or any improvements 
made by Contractor and located on the Property until acceptance of the Work by Authority as 
evidenced by the Acceptance Certificate more particularly described in Section 2.9(b) of this 
Agreement.  Contractor shall take reasonable precautions for safety of, and shall provide 
reasonable protection to prevent damage, injury or loss to: 

(i) employees at the Property and other persons who may be affected 
thereby, including, but not limited to the tenants of the residential units located at the Property 
(collectively, the "Residential Tenants"); 

(ii) the materials and equipment to be used in connection with the 
performance of the Work, whether in storage on or off the site, under care, custody or control of 
Contractor or Contractor's Subcontractors or sub-subcontractors; and 

(iii) other property at the site or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, 
lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures and utilities not designated for removal, 
relocation or replacement in the course of the Work. 

(b) Residential Tenants.  Contractor acknowledges that the Residential 
Tenants shall be occupying the portions of the Property above the portions of the Property where 
the Work will be performed.  Contractor shall take all reasonable precautions to ensure that the 
Work is performed in such a manner so as not to endanger, threaten, or impair the safety of 
Residential Tenants or their guests and invitees, and shall construct and maintain reasonable 
safeguards as required by the condition and progress of the Work.  Contractor shall take all 
reasonably available efforts to eliminate unnecessary noise, dust, or obstructions during the 
performance of the Work. 

(c) Utilities.  In the event that the performance of the Work requires existing 
utilities (including, but not limited to, water, heat, electricity, or telecommunications) to be shut-
off, then Contractor shall not cause such utilities to be shut off until:  (i) Contractor has notified 
Authority of such requirement, and (ii) Authority has notified the Residential Tenants of such 
requirement in accordance with the Residential Tenants' leases.  In such event Contractor shall 
use commercially reasonable efforts to minimize the time period that any utility serving the 
Property is shut-off. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

10 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(d) Notices.  Contractor shall give notices and comply with applicable laws, 
ordinances, rules, regulations and lawful orders of public authorities bearing on safety of persons 
or property or their protection from damage, injury or loss.  Contractor shall erect and maintain, 
as required by existing conditions and performance of the Work, reasonable safeguards for safety 
and protection, including posting danger signs and other warnings against hazards, promulgating 
safety regulations and notifying owners and users of adjacent sites and utilities. 

(e) Explosives.  When use or storage of explosives or other hazardous 
materials or equipment or unusual methods are necessary for performance of the Work, 
Contractor shall exercise utmost care and carry on such activities under supervision of properly 
qualified personnel.  Contractor shall also give Authority reasonable advance notice. 

(f) Damage.  Contractor shall promptly remedy damage and loss to property 
referred to in Sections 2.7(a)(ii) and (iii) above, to the extent caused by Contractor, a 
Subcontractor, a sub-subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or 
by anyone for whose acts they may be liable and for which Contractor is responsible under 
Sections 2.7(a)(ii) and (iii), except damage or loss attributable to acts or omissions of Authority 
and not attributable to the fault or negligence of Contractor. 

(g) No Overloading.  Contractor shall not load or permit any part of the Work 
or site to be loaded so as to endanger its safety. 

(h) Suspension.  When all or a portion of the Work is suspended for any 
reason, Contractor shall securely fasten down all coverings and protect the Improvements, as 
necessary, from injury by any cause, including, but not limited to rain or other weather 
conditions. 

(i) Notice to Authority.  Contractor shall promptly report in writing to 
Authority all accidents arising out of or in connection with the Work that caused death, serious 
personal injury, or serious property damage (other than the demolition of any existing 
improvements on the Property as set forth in the Plans), giving full details and statements of any 
witnesses.  In addition, if death, serious personal injuries or serious damages are caused, the 
accident shall be reported immediately by telephone or messenger to Authority. 

Section 2.8 Conditions Precedent to Commencement of the Work. 

(a) Conditions.  Contractor shall cause the commencement of Work by no 
later than the date set forth in a Notice to Proceed issued by Authority; provided, however, 
Authority shall not be under any obligation to issue a Notice to Proceed until satisfaction of the 
following conditions precedent: 

(i) There exists no Default nor any act, failure, omission or condition 
that would constitute an event of Default under this Agreement. 

(ii) Contractor has furnished Authority with evidence of the bonds 
meeting the requirements of Section 2.5 of this Agreement. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

11 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(iii) Contractor has executed and delivered to Authority all documents, 
instruments, and policies required by Authority pursuant to this Agreement. 

(iv) Contractor has furnished Authority with evidence of the insurance 
coverage meeting the requirements of Section 2.19 of this Agreement. 

(v) Contractor has secured all necessary permits, fees and licenses as 
set forth in Section 2.12(a) of this Agreement. 

(b) Termination.  If Contractor has not satisfied the conditions precedent set 
forth in this Section 2.8 by the earlier of: (i) the date set forth in the Notice to Proceed; or 
(ii) July 1, 2024, then such failure shall constitute a default as set forth in Section 4.2 of this 
Agreement, and Authority may, in its sole discretion, terminate this Agreement.  In the event of 
such termination neither Party shall have any continuing liability or obligations except for 
continuing indemnities provided elsewhere in this Agreement.  In the event of such termination, 
the Parties agree and acknowledge that, for the avoidance of doubt, Section 34 of the General 
Conditions shall not apply. 

Section 2.9 Completion of the Work. 

(a) Compliance with Schedule.  Contractor shall perform the Work in strict 
accordance with the Schedule submitted to and accepted by Authority.  Contractor shall have the 
sole and exclusive responsibility for completing the Work according to the Schedule.  Failure to 
materially comply with the Schedule shall be considered a breach of this Agreement.  Any 
proposed revisions to the Schedule which would affect Contract Time shall be submitted by 
Contractor pursuant to the Change Order procedure set forth in Section 2.11 of this Agreement.  
If Authority reasonably determines that the performance of the Work has not materially reached 
the level of completion set forth in the Schedule or the Contract Documents (taking into account 
any corrective schedule action(s) proposed by Contractor including, but not limited to, 
resequencing tasks or lags to obtain compliance with the Schedule), then Authority shall have the 
right to require Contractor to take all measures necessary to expedite the Work in order to 
materially comply with the Schedule including, but not limited to, working additional shifts or 
overtime, supplying additional labor, equipment, facilities, and other similar measures.  
Authority's right to require such measures is solely for the purpose of ensuring Contractor's 
compliance with the Schedule.  Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract 
Sum in connection with such measures required by Authority.  Authority may exercise the rights 
furnished in this Section 2.9(a) as frequently as Authority deems necessary to ensure that 
Contractor's performance of the Work will comply with the Contract Time.

(b) Acceptance Certificate.  Subject to Section 32(b) of the General 
Conditions, Contractor shall diligently prosecute the Work to completion, and shall cause the 
Substantial Completion of the Work as set forth in the Schedule, and within the time period 
established in Section 25 of the General Conditions (the "Contract Time").  Upon Substantial 
Completion of the Work Contractor shall submit to Authority a certification from Architect 
stating that the Work has been completed in accordance with the Plans.  Upon (1) submission of 
Architect's certification, (2) inspection by Authority and a determination by Authority in its 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

12 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

reasonable discretion Contractor has reached Substantial Completion in compliance with this 
Agreement, and (3) at Authority's discretion, completion of an independent cost certification of 
the work to be prepared and paid for by Authority, Authority shall certify in writing that the 
Work is substantially complete by executing and recording against the Property a notice of 
completion and acceptance of work (the "Acceptance Certificate").

Section 2.10 Delay and Extension of Time. 

(a) Delay.  Except as set forth below, the occurrence of events that delay the 
Work shall not excuse Contractor from achieving Substantial Completion within the Contract 
Time.  The Contract Time may be extended by Change Order for each calendar day Contractor is 
delayed in the commencement or progress of the Work provided that Contractor demonstrates 
that the following conditions have been met: 

(i) At the time the event causing the delay commences, no event of 
default (as described in Section 4.2 of this Agreement) exists; 

(ii) Contractor demonstrates that the delay will have a material adverse 
impact on the critical path of the then current Schedule;

(iii) The delay is not caused by Contractor; 

(iv) The delay could not be (or have been) limited or avoided by 
Contractor's timely notice to Authority of the delay or reasonable likelihood that the delay would 
occur; 

(v) The delay is of a duration of more than one calendar day; and 

(vi) The delay is caused by one, or more, of the events or conditions set 
forth in Section 32(b)(1) of the General Conditions. 

(b) Change Order.  Provided that such conditions set forth above are satisfied, 
the Contract Time may be extended by Change Order as set forth in Section 2.11 of this 
Agreement. 

Section 2.11 Change Orders. 

Changes in the Work may be accomplished after execution of this Agreement, and 
without invalidating this Agreement by Change Order, subject to the limitations stated in 
Section 29 of the General Conditions (each, a "Change Order").  Agreement on any Change 
Order shall constitute a final settlement of all matters relating to the change in the work that is 
the subject of the Change Order, including, but not limited to, all direct and indirect costs 
associated with such change and any and all adjustments to the Contract Sum and the Contract 
Time (if any).  Contractor shall use the AIA Change Order form, or such other form of change 
order reasonably acceptable to Authority, and shall report requests for Change Orders and 
Change Order status monthly. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

13 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

 

Section 2.12 Work Pursuant to Permits, Plans and Laws. 

(a) Permits.  In accordance with Section 12(b) of the General Conditions, 
Contractor shall obtain, and pay all costs for, all applicable permits, licenses, and authorizations 
necessary for the Work.  The Work shall proceed only after procurement of each permit, license, 
or other authorization that may be required by any governmental agency having jurisdiction over 
the Work. 

(b) Plans and Laws.  Contractor shall cause all the Work performed in 
connection with this Agreement to be performed in compliance with:  (i) the Plans, as approved 
by the City Building Department, and all governmental approvals and permits; (ii) all applicable 
laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of federal, state, or municipal governments or agencies 
now in force or that may be enacted hereafter, including (without limitation and where 
applicable) prevailing wage provisions of the federal Davis-Bacon Act (as further set forth in 
Section 46 of the General Conditions), and its implementing rules and regulations, and the 
prevailing wage provisions of the Section 1720, et seq. of the California Labor Code; and (iii) all 
directions, rules and regulations of any fire marshal, health officer, building inspector, or other 
officer of every governmental agency now having or hereafter acquiring jurisdiction.  In 
accordance with Section 1104 of the California Public Contract Code, Contractor shall review 
the Contract Documents, and, in the event Contractor discovers any error or omission in the 
Contract Documents with applicable codes, then Contractor shall promptly notify Authority of 
such error or omission. 

(c) Davis-Bacon Wages and California Prevailing Wages; Payroll 
Compliance. 

(i) The applicable Davis Bacon wage rates are attached to this 
Agreement as Exhibit G.  A copy of the wage decision and any additional classifications shall be 
posted by Contractor at the Property in a prominent place readily accessible to the workers.  
Contractor shall and shall cause Subcontractors to pay the higher of:  (1) the wages set forth in 
Exhibit G; or (2) prevailing wages in the performance of the Work as those wages are 
determined pursuant to Sections 1720 et seq. of the California Labor Code.  Regardless of the 
payment of wages set forth in Exhibit G or pursuant to Sections 1720 et seq. of the California 
Labor Code, Contractor shall, and shall cause any Subcontractors to:  (A) employ apprentices as 
required by Sections 1777.5 et seq. of the California Labor Code, and the implementing 
regulations of the DIR, and to comply with the other applicable provisions of Sections 1720 et
seq. and Sections 1777.5 et seq. of the California Labor Code, and implementing regulations of 
the DIR; (B) keep and retain, and shall cause any Subcontractor to keep and retain, such records 
as are necessary to determine if such prevailing wages have been paid as required pursuant to 
Sections 1720 et seq. of the California Labor Code, and apprentices have been employed are 
required by Sections 1777.5 et seq. of the California Labor Code; (C) post at the Property the 
applicable prevailing rates of per diem wages (Copies of the currently applicable current per 
diem prevailing wages are available from the DIR); (D) register, and cause the Subcontractors 
rehabilitating the Property to be registered as set forth in Sections 1725.5 of the California Labor 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

14 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Code; (E) cause its Subcontractors, in all calls for bids, bidding materials and subcontract 
documents to specify that:  (i) no subcontractor may be listed on a bid proposal nor be awarded a 
contract unless registered with the DIR pursuant to Sections 1725.5 of the California Labor 
Code; and (ii) the Work is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the DIR; 
(F) provide Authority all information required by Sections 1773.3 of the California Labor Code, 
as set forth in the DIR's online form PWC-100 within two (2) calendar days after the Effective 
Date ; (G) post, or cause its Subcontractors to post job site notices, as prescribed by regulation by 
the DIR; and (H) cause its Subcontractors to furnish payroll records required by Sections 1776 of 
the California Labor Code directly to the Labor Commissioner, at least monthly in the electronic 
format prescribed by the Labor Commissioner. 

(ii) Each Subcontractor and any lower tier subcontractor shall submit 
through Contractor to Authority weekly certified payrolls for each work week from the time 
work is started until the Work is completed setting forth, among other things, that each worker 
has been paid in accordance with Section 2.12(c)(i) of this Agreement.  Weekly payrolls shall be 
completed and submitted promptly to Authority, preferably no later than seven (7) working days 
following completion of the work week.  Monthly progress payments will not be released until 
all payroll reports are up to date.  All workers are to be paid not less than once per week. 

(d) Department of Labor Notification.  Within ten (10) calendar days of 
contract award (including subcontracts) for each contract of Ten Thousand and No/100ths 
Dollars ($10,000.00) or more, Authority is required to send a notice of contract award to the 
Regional Office of Federal Contract Compliance Programs of the Department of Labor.  This 
notification is required by Executive Order 11246, as amended, and shall include the name, 
address, and telephone number of the contractor/subcontractor; the employer identification 
number; the dollar amount of the contract; the estimated start and completion dates; and the 
project number(s) and community in which the project(s) is located.  The above information 
shall be submitted to Authority, by Contractor, within two (2) working days of receipt of such 
information as it applies to subcontractors. 

Section 2.13 Authority's Right to Stop the Work. 

If Contractor fails to correct defective work as required by Article 23 of the General 
Conditions or fails to carry out the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, Authority 
by a written order signed by the Contracting Officer, may order Contractor to stop the Work or 
any portion thereof until the cause for such order has been eliminated.

Section 2.14 Authority's Right to Carry Out the Work. 

If Contractor defaults or neglects to carry out the work in accordance with this 
Agreement and fails within seven (7) calendar days after receipt of written notice from Authority 
to commence and continue correction of such defects or neglect with diligence and promptness, 
Authority may, after seven (7) calendar days following receipt by Contractor of an additional 
written notice and without prejudice to any other remedy Authority may have, correct such 
deficiencies.  In such case, an appropriate Change Order shall be issued, deducting from the 
payments then or thereafter due Contractor, the cost of correcting such deficiencies, including 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

15 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

compensation for Architect's additional services made necessary by such default, neglect or 
failure.  If the payments then or thereafter due Contractor are not sufficient to cover such 
amount, Contractor shall pay the difference to Authority. 

Section 2.15 Section 3 Compliance. 

Contractor shall comply with Sections 38, 39, and 40 of the General Conditions regarding 
Section 3 and the requirements set forth in AHA Section 3 Policy. 

Section 2.16 Equal Opportunity. 

Contractor, for itself and its successors and assigns, and transferees agrees that in the 
performance of the Work it shall comply with the requirements of Section 39 of the General 
Conditions regarding Equal Employment Opportunity. 

Section 2.17 Minority and Women-Owned Business Participation. 

Attached to this Agreement as Exhibit J is the Notice for Affirmative Action to Ensure 
Equal Employment Opportunity under Executive Order 11246, and the Standard Federal Equal 
Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications.  It is the policy of Authority to 
take positive steps to maximize the utilization of minority and women business enterprises in all 
contract activity administered by Authority. 

Section 2.18 Hazardous Materials. 

(a) Contractor Responsibility.  Contractor shall not permit any hazardous 
material or substance to be brought to, or used on, the Property except to the extent such 
hazardous material or substance is necessary to and customarily used in projects like the Work.  
Any hazardous material or substance brought or used on the Property by Contractor, any 
Subcontractor, any material supplier, or any entity for whom any of them is responsible, shall be 
used, stored and disposed of in compliance with all applicable laws related to such hazardous 
materials or substances.  Any damage to the Property and materials and equipment to be 
incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the site, under care, custody or control of 
Contractor or Contractor's Subcontractors or sub-subcontractors; and other property at the 
Property or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures 
and utilities not designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of the Work, 
resulting from the improper storage or use of hazardous materials or substances, shall be 
remedied by Contractor at its sole cost and expense in accordance with applicable laws.  
Contractor shall provide Authority notice of any release of hazardous materials or substances at 
the Property.  In no event, however, shall Authority have any responsibility for any substance or 
material that is brought to the Property by Contractor, any Subcontractor, any material supplier, 
or any entity for whom any of them is responsible.  Contractor agrees not to import any fill that 
are hazardous, toxic or made up of any items that are hazardous or toxic. 

(b) Compliance with Laws.  If Contractor's scope of work includes the off-
haul or contaminated soil, hazardous materials (including asbestos) remediation, or mold 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

16 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

remediation, then Contractor shall comply with the requirements of all applicable federal, state 
and local laws, and any environmental reports provided to Contractor by Authority, in the 
removal, transportation and disposal of the materials.  Contractor shall obtain all necessary 
permits for any contaminated soil or hazardous materials or mold removal work.  Contractor 
shall ensure that any Subcontractor performing any removal or remediation work possesses the 
necessary expertise, insurance and licenses.  All contaminated and hazardous material shall be 
transported to an appropriately permitted facility.  Contractor shall and shall cause any 
Subcontractors performing the removal and remediation work to take all necessary safety 
precautions during the performance of the Work including but not limited to necessary protection 
of surrounding areas to prevent the spread of contamination, and the protection of workers 
performing the removal and remediation work. 

(c) Stop Work.  If reasonable precautions will be inadequate to prevent 
foreseeable bodily injury or death to persons resulting from a material or substance, including 
but not limited to polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), but specifically excluding lead paint and 
asbestos (which remediation is contemplated as part of the Work), encountered on the Property 
by Contractor, Contractor shall, upon recognizing the condition, immediately stop the Work in 
the affected area and report the condition to Authority in writing. 

(d) Rendered Harmless.  In the event hazardous materials or substances are 
found to be present, then Contractor shall take such actions necessary to render such materials or 
substances harmless.  When the material or substance has been rendered harmless, Work in the 
affected area shall resume upon written agreement of Authority and Contractor.  The Contract 
Time shall be extended appropriately and the Contract Sum shall be increased in the amount of 
Contractor's reasonable additional costs of shut-down, delay and start-up, which adjustments 
shall be accomplished pursuant to a Change Order; provided, however, Authority shall have no 
obligation to execute a Change Order for:  (i) any hazardous materials or substances that were 
previously disclosed to Contractor, prior to the Effective Date; (ii) any condition that does not 
differ materially from those conditions disclosed to Contractor; or (iii) any hazardous materials 
or condition known by Contractor. 

Section 2.19 Insurance Requirements. 

Contractor shall, and shall cause any Subcontractors performing any portion of the Work 
to maintain insurance of the types described in Exhibit F.  The requirements set forth in Exhibit F 
supersede those set forth in Section 36 of the General Conditions. 

Section 2.20 Contractor's Obligations regarding Mechanic's Liens and Stop Notices. 

(a) Contractor's Obligation to Maintain Lien-Free Title.  Provided that 
Authority has made payment of undisputed sums due and payable in accordance with this 
Agreement, if any claim of mechanic's lien or stop notice is filed or made against the real 
property in connection with the Work, Contractor shall:  (i) immediately pay and fully discharge 
the mechanic's lien or stop notice claim; (ii) commence a civil action pursuant to Sections 9350 
et seq. of the California Civil Code, for the summary determination of the mechanic's lien or stop 
notice; or (iii) may deliver to Authority a release of lien or stop notice by surety bond in a legally 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

17 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

sufficient form and amount to discharge the mechanic's lien or stop notice.  Contractor shall 
provide whatever documentation, deposits or surety is reasonably required by the title insurance 
company providing title insurance on the Work in order to obtain lien-free endorsements prior to 
Authority's payment of any payment, including any progress payment.  If Contractor fails to 
promptly provide the documentation, deposits, records of payment or surety bonds required by 
this Section 2.20(a), Authority may: (1) obtain any deposits or surety; or (2) make payments to 
claimants against the Work, Contractor, Authority, in good faith, as reasonably required to 
release the mechanic's lien or stop notice claim.  Authority may withhold the cost of obtaining 
such deposits or surety or of making such payments from any payment that would otherwise be 
due to Contractor.  Failure of Authority to withhold any or part of any payment pursuant to this 
Section 2.20(a) shall not be a waiver of any right of Authority under the Contract.  Withholding 
of any payment or part of any payment by Authority pursuant to this Section 2.20(a) shall not be 
a breach of this Agreement. 

(b) Withholding of Payments Due to Claims of Subcontractors.  Provided that 
Authority has made payment of undisputed sums due and payable in accordance with this 
Agreement, if any subcontractor, material supplier to the Work, or lower tier subcontractor or 
material supplier files or serves any claim or lien, stop notice, common count or other demand 
for payment against Authority, or the real property of the Work, Authority may either 
(1) withhold from any progress payment or other payment an amount up to one hundred fifty 
percent (150%) of the amount necessary to satisfy the claim, stop notice, common count, or other 
demand for payment, including all anticipated costs and fees related to the defense of such claim, 
including but not limited to attorneys' fees, or (2) release the progress payment or other payment.  
Failure of Authority to withhold any or part of a progress payment pursuant to this 
Section 2.20(b) shall not be a waiver of any right of Authority under this Agreement.  
Withholding of any payment by Authority pursuant to this Section 2.20(b) shall not be a breach 
of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3
PAYMENT AND RECORD KEEPING REQUIREMENTS 

Section 3.1 Contract Sum; Guaranteed Maximum Price. 

(a) Contract Sum.  Authority shall pay Contractor the Contract Sum in current 
funds for Contractor's performance of the Work.  The "Contract Sum" is the Cost of the Work as 
defined in this Article 3, plus the Contractor's Fee.  The Contract Sum is based on Contractor's 
Schedule of Values, attached as Exhibit C to this Agreement and incorporated herein.  
Contractor's Schedule of Values sets forth that the Contract Sum shall not exceed One Hundred 
and Twelve Thousand, Eight Hundred and Fifteen and No/100ths Dollars ($112,815.00) (the 
"Guaranteed Maximum Price"), subject to any change order approved in writing by Authority in 
accordance with this Agreement. 

(b) Contractor's Actual Costs.  Costs as defined herein shall be actual costs 
paid by Contractor.  All payments made by Authority pursuant to this Article 3, whether those 
payments are actually made before or after the Effective Date, are included within the 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

18 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Guaranteed Maximum Price; provided, however, that in no event shall Authority be required to 
reimburse Contractor for any portion of the Cost of the Work incurred prior to the issuance of the 
Notice to Proceed unless Contractor has received Authority's written consent prior to incurring 
such cost. 

(c) No Duplication of Payment.  Notwithstanding the breakdown or 
categorization of any costs to be reimbursed in this Article 3 or elsewhere, there shall be no 
duplication of payment in the event any particular items for which payment is requested can be 
characterized as falling into more than one of the types of compensable or reimbursable 
categories.

Section 3.2 Conditions Precedent to Disbursement of Funds for the Work. 

Authority shall not be obligated to make any payment to Contractor or take any other 
action under this Agreement unless the following conditions are satisfied prior to each such 
disbursement: 

(a) No Default.  There exists no Default nor any act, failure, omission or 
condition that would constitute an event of Default under this Agreement. 

(b) Payroll.  Authority has received all payroll information required pursuant 
to Section 2.12(c) of this Agreement; provided, however, Authority shall withhold from any 
payment an amount proportionate to, or otherwise equal to, the missing payroll information.  
Authority shall not withhold the full amount of a payment due solely to Contractor's failure to 
deliver complete payroll information.

(c) Approved Application for Payment.  Authority has received, and 
approved, the Application for Payment in the form set forth in Section 3.3 of this Agreement. 

(d) Lien Releases.  If requested by Authority, Contractor has provided 
Authority with waiver and releases from all contractors, Subcontractors, and material persons in 
such form as is acceptable to Authority including conditional waivers from all persons for whose 
work in the preceding month payment is sought, and unconditional waiver and releases from all 
persons for whose work payment has been made by Authority (or bonded around by Contractor 
in the event of a dispute between Contractor and a Subcontractor) in response to Contractor's 
Application for Payment. 

Section 3.3 Application for Payment Process. 

(a) Submittal of Application for Payment.  Authority shall provide payment to 
Contractor for the performance of the Work based upon a monthly Application for Payment from 
Contractor, and approved by Authority, in an amount equal to ninety-five percent (95.00%) of 
the requested payment amount, and shall retain the balance for payment in accordance with 
Section 3.4 of this Agreement (the "Retention Amount"), all subject to the requirements set forth 
in Section 27 of the General Conditions.  In the event Authority disapproves a monthly 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

19 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Application for Payment, then Authority shall deliver a written notice of disapproval within 
seven (7) calendar days after Authority's receipt of the Application for Payment. 

(b) Form of Application for Payment.  In addition to the requirements set 
forth in Section 27 of the General Conditions (including Contractors certification requirement), 
each of Contractor's application for payment (an "Application for Payment") shall:  (i) set forth 
the proposed use of funds consistent with the Contractor Schedule of Values, including the Cost 
of the Work to be funded; (ii) contain sufficient detail and with sufficient supporting 
documentation to permit Authority to confirm that the work to be funded by the draw request has 
been performed, and that Authority may accept such work in accordance with the guidelines 
established by HUD to the extent applicable; and (iii) be set forth on the AIA form for 
application of payment, or such other form mutually acceptable to the Parties. 

(c) Payment by Authority.  Authority shall pay each approved Application for 
Payment within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt.  Notwithstanding any provision of this 
Agreement to the contrary, including but not limited to Section 27 of the General Conditions, if 
Authority fails to pay an approved Application for Payment within thirty (30) calendar days after 
receipt of an undisputed and properly submitted Application for Payment from Contractor, then 
Authority shall pay interest to Contractor equivalent to the legal rate set forth in subdivision (a) 
of Section 685.010 of the California Code of Civil Procedure.  Contractor and Authority agree 
and acknowledge that this provision constitutes a summary of Section 20104.50 of the California 
Public Contract Code. 

Section 3.4 Conditions Precedent to Release of Retention Amount. 

(a) Conditions Precedent.  Authority shall not be obligated to make the 
disbursements of the Retention Amount or take any other action under this Agreement unless the 
following conditions are satisfied prior to such disbursement: 

(i) There exists no Default nor any act, failure, omission or condition 
that would constitute an event of Default under this Agreement. 

(ii) All labor has been performed in a good workperson-like manner 
consistent with this Agreement. 

(iii) To the maximum extent permitted by law, all persons, firms and 
corporations, including all laborers, material persons, suppliers and Subcontractors who have 
furnished equipment, supplied materials or performed work for or in connection with the Work, 
(the "Potential Claimants"), have been paid or will be paid in full out of the remaining retained 
percentage; and those persons, firms and corporations have submitted their final statements with 
an unconditional waiver and release upon final payment.  Contractor shall make these waivers 
available for inspection by Authority.  In the event a dispute has arisen between Contractor and 
one of the parties listed above which prevents Contractor from obtaining the waiver of rights 
from that party, Contractor may satisfy the requirements of this Section 3.4(a)(iii) by supplying a 
payment bond issued by a surety licensed to do business in the State of California and acceptable 
to Authority to remove the effect of any claim against the Property and agree to defend and 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

20 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

indemnify Authority against all actions filed by persons who have supplied materials to or 
performed work for or in connection with this Agreement. 

(iv) All portions of the Work (that are the responsibility of Contractor) 
requiring inspection by any governmental authority have been inspected and approved by such 
authority and all requisite certificates of occupancy, approvals, licenses and permits (if 
applicable) that are the responsibility of Contractor, have been issued. 

(v) To the extent applicable, Authority has received operating manuals 
and assignments of warranties of Contractor, all Subcontractors and materialpersons. 

(vi) Thirty (30) calendar days have elapsed from Authority's 
recordation of the Acceptance Certificate.

(vii) If requested by Authority, Contractor has delivered to Authority a 
final accounting of the actual Cost of the Work, and the Savings, if any, and/or Authority's 
accountant has completed a cost certification for the Work. 

(viii) All items on the punch-list related to the Work have been 
completed and accepted by Authority, and Authority has issued an Acceptance Certificate 
pursuant to Section 2.9 of this Agreement and Section 20 of the General Conditions. 

(b) Early Release.  Notwithstanding the above, a portion of the Retention 
Amount may be released to certain Potential Claimants performing work early in the Schedule 
subject to the approval of Authority, in its sole discretion, prior to satisfaction of all conditions 
set forth in this Section 3.4 of this Agreement if such Potential Claimant has:  (i) fully performed 
all portions of the Work to be performed by such Potential Claimant; (ii) delivered to Contractor, 
or to Authority, all applicable operating manuals and assignments of warranties, and other 
documentation reasonably requested by Authority in connection with such Potential Claimant's 
work; and (iii) provided Authority unconditional releases for all amounts owed to the Potential 
Claimant. 

Section 3.5 Assignment of Claims by Contractor. 

In accordance with Section 7103.5 of the California Public Contract Code, Contractor 
and/or Subcontractor(s), if any, hereby assign to Authority all rights, title, and interest in and to 
all causes of action each may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Section 15), as 
my be amended, or under the Cartwright Act (Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 16700) of 
Part 2 Division 7 of the California Business and Professions Code) as may be amended, arising 
from purchases of goods, services, or materials pursuant to this Agreement or the applicable 
subcontract.  This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time Authority tenders 
final payment to Contractor (or final payment is tendered to the applicable Subcontractor), in 
accordance with this Agreement, without further acknowledgement, or action, by the Parties.  
Such assignment shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

21 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Section 3.6 Information. 

Contractor shall provide any information reasonably requested by Authority in 
connection with the performance of the Work, including (but not limited to) any information 
required by HUD. 

ARTICLE 4
TERM; DEFAULT; REMEDIES 

Section 4.1 Term. 

The term of this Agreement shall extend from the Effective Date until the earlier of: 
(a) termination following an uncured default under this Agreement; or (b) Authority's written 
acceptance of the Work as completed through the issuance of an Acceptance Certificate; 
provided, however the indemnification and warranty provisions set forth in this Agreement 
and/or the General Conditions shall survive the expiration of the term. 

Section 4.2 Events of Default by Contractor. 

(a) Events of Default.  Contractor shall be in default under this Agreement, if 
Contractor, after five (5) calendar days' notice and opportunity to cure: 

(i) subject to Section 32(b) of the General Conditions, refuses or fails 
to prosecute the Work, or any separable part of it, with the diligence that will ensure its 
Substantial Completion within the Contract Time, or fails to complete the Work within this time; 

(ii) is adjudged bankrupt or there is a general assignment for the 
benefit of creditors or the appointment of a receiver due to insolvency; 

(iii) refuses or fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or materials; 

(iv) repeatedly fails to make prompt payment to Subcontractors for 
materials or labor; 

(v) repeatedly or materially disregards the applicable laws, local 
ordinances, or Authority instructions; or 

(vi) is in substantial breach of any provision of this Agreement. 

(b) Remedies.  Following such default by Contractor, Authority shall have the 
right to pursue all of the remedies set forth in Section 4.3 of this Agreement; provided, however, 
in the event of default under Section 4.2(a)(i) of this Agreement, Authority shall enforce the 
remedy set forth in Section 4.3(d) of this Agreement, solely in connection with Contractor's 
failure to timely complete the Work. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

22 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Section 4.3 Remedies. 

(a) Authority's Rights.  The occurrence of any default by Contractor set forth 
in Section 4.2 of this Agreement, shall give Authority the right to take whatever action at law or 
in equity as may appear reasonably necessary to enforce performance or observance of any 
obligations, agreements, or covenants under this Agreement, including without limitation:  
(i) termination of this Agreement, (ii) without liability, taking possession of the Property and of 
all materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by 
Contractor; (iii) acceptance of assignment of subcontracts; and, (iv) completion of the Work by 
whatever reasonable method Authority may deem expedient. 

(b) Surety.  In the event of termination by Authority, Authority shall 
immediately serve written notice on the surety and Contractor.  The surety shall have the right to 
take over and perform the Work if, within ten (10) calendar days after receiving the notice, it so 
notifies Authority, in writing, and promptly commences work (and thereafter, the surety shall be 
bound by all the terms and conditions of this Agreement). 

(c) Payment.  In the event of termination, Contractor shall not be entitled to 
receive any further payment until the Work is completed, and applicable lien periods have 
expired.  If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds the expense of completing the Work, 
plus compensation for additional managerial and administrative services and all other reasonable 
costs and expenses incurred by, or on behalf of Authority, the excess shall be paid to Contractor.  
If such expenses incurred by Authority exceed the unpaid balance, then, notwithstanding any 
other remedy invoked by, or otherwise available to, Authority, Contractor and surety (on a joint 
and several basis) shall be liable for the difference to Authority, and shall promptly pay such 
amount upon written demand by Authority.  Such obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.  In the event of any conflict between the terms of this 
Section 4.3(c) and any other provision of this Agreement, the terms of this Section 4.3(c) shall 
control. 

(d) Liquidated Damages for Delay.  By executing this Agreement, Contractor 
represents that it can, and will, complete the Work within the Contract Time.  If Contractor fails 
to reach Substantial Completion by the date required by this Agreement, the Parties agree that 
Authority would suffer damages related to the delay, but that such damages would be extremely 
difficult and impracticable to ascertain.  The Parties therefore agree that a reasonable estimate of 
the damages to be suffered by Authority in the event of such a delay is Twenty Five and 
No/100ths Dollars ($25.00) per calendar day.  Contractor shall therefore pay to Authority that 
amount for each calendar day during which Substantial Completion is delayed beyond the date 
for Substantial Completion required by, and as set forth in, the Schedule.  At Authority's 
discretion, Authority shall be entitled to deduct such amount from any payment otherwise due 
Contractor, and in no event shall such deduction constitute a breach of this Agreement by 
Authority.  Any such amount not deducted shall be immediately payable by Contractor to 
Authority on Authority's written demand.  Such payments are:  (i) liquidated damages to 
Authority solely for Contractor's failure to timely complete the Work in accordance with this 
Agreement; (ii) in addition to any other remedy available to Authority for Contractor's other 
breach or default(s) under this Agreement; and (iii) not a penalty.  Such liquidated damages are 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

23 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

not in lieu of Contractor's indemnity obligations set forth separately in this Agreement.  This 
Section 4.3(d) replaces Section 33(a) of the General Conditions, in its entirety.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Parties agree and acknowledge that Section 33(b) and Section 33(c) of 
the General Conditions remain in full force and effect, and are to be read in conjunction with this 
Section 4.3(d). 

Section 4.4 Remedies Cumulative. 

No right, power, or remedy given to Authority by the terms of this Agreement is intended 
to be exclusive of any other right, power, or remedy; and each and every such right, power, or 
remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to every other right, power, or remedy given to 
Authority by the terms of any such instrument, or by any statute or otherwise against Contractor 
and any other person.  Neither the failure nor any delay on the part of Authority to exercise any 
such rights and remedies shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise 
by Authority of any such right or remedy preclude any other or further exercise of such right or 
remedy, or any other right or remedy. 

Section 4.5 Termination for Convenience. 

Authority shall have the right to terminate this Agreement for convenience pursuant to 
Section 34 of the General Conditions. 

ARTICLE 5
PARTIES' DISPUTES

Section 5.1 Definition of Claim Governed by Dispute Clause. 

"Claim," as used in this clause, means a written demand or written assertion by one of the 
Parties seeking, as a matter of right, the payment of money in a sum certain, the adjustment or 
interpretation of terms of this Agreement, or other relief arising under or relating to this 
Agreement.  A claim arising under this Agreement, unlike a claim relating to this Agreement, is 
a claim that can be resolved under this Agreement that provides for the relief sought by the 
claimant.  A voucher, invoice, or other routine request for payment that is not in dispute when 
submitted is not a claim.  The submission may be converted to a claim by complying with the 
requirements of this Article 5, if it is disputed either as to liability or amount or is not acted upon 
in a reasonable time. 

Section 5.2 Applicability of Dispute Clause. 

Except for disputes arising under applicable labor standards (i.e., Davis-Bacon and 
related acts), all disputes arising under or relating to this Agreement, including any claims for 
damages for the alleged breach thereof which are not disposed of by this Agreement, shall be 
resolved under this Article 5.  This Article 5 supplements Section 31 of the General Conditions. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

24 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Section 5.3 Written Claims to be Submitted to Contracting Officer. 

All claims by Contractor shall be made in writing and submitted to the Contracting 
Officer for a written decision.

Section 5.4 Notice of Decision or Decision Date. 

The Contracting Officer shall, within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the 
request, decide the claim or notify Contractor of the date by which the decision will be made.  In 
no event shall the Contracting Officer render a decision later than sixty (60) calendar days from 
the receipt of the request.

Section 5.5 Effect of Contracting Officer's Decision. 

The Contracting Officer's decision shall be final unless Contractor submits a demand for 
arbitration within the applicable statute of limitations, in accordance with Section 5.8 of this 
Agreement. 

Section 5.6 Contractor's Duty to Perform Pending Claim Resolution. 

Contractor shall proceed diligently with performance of this Agreement, pending final 
resolution of any request for relief, claim, appeal, or action arising under or relating to this 
Agreement, and comply with any decision of the Contracting Officer. 

Section 5.7 Identification of Contracting Officer. 

For purposes of this Agreement, Authority's Contracting Officer shall be Authority 
Executive Director or his or her designee (the "Contracting Officer"). 

Section 5.8 Arbitration of Disputes. 

In the event Contractor disputes the Contracting Officer's determination, then the Parties 
shall submit the dispute to binding arbitration which, unless the Parties mutually agree otherwise, 
shall be in accordance with the Arbitration Rules and Procedures of JAMS (the "JAMS Rules") 
currently in effect, unless arbitration is not required pursuant to Section 5.9 of this Agreement, in 
which event Contractor shall proceed in accordance with Section 31 of the General Conditions.  
The demand for arbitration shall be filed in writing with Authority and with JAMS.  The 
arbitration panel shall consist of a single arbitrator and the process for the arbitration shall 
proceed in accordance with the then current JAMS Rules.  A demand for arbitration shall be 
made within thirty (30) calendar days following the Contracting Officer's determination, and in 
no event shall it be made after the date when institution of legal or equitable proceedings based 
on such claim would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

Section 5.9 Situations when Arbitration Not Applicable. 

The foregoing agreement to arbitrate and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional 
person or entity duly consented to by Parties shall be specifically enforceable under applicable 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

25 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

law in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  This Agreement to arbitrate shall not apply if:  
(a) any person or entity whom either Party believes is necessary or beneficial to the full 
resolution of the claim (including but not limited to Architect) cannot be joined in or bound by 
the arbitration proceeding; or (b) any person or entity whom either Party believes is necessary as 
a witness for such a proceeding is not available for such a proceeding; or (c) the amount in 
controversy exceeds Fifty Thousand and No/100ths Dollars ($50,000.00); or (d) if any change in 
the Contract Time or change in the date set forth for Substantial Completion could result from 
the arbitration. 

Section 5.10 Judgment on Final Award. 

The arbitrator shall make an award in writing that is consistent with the terms of this 
Agreement (including but not limited to the terms governing payment of attorneys' fees) and the 
laws of the state of California, and that includes findings of fact and a reasoned decision.  The 
award rendered by the arbitrator shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in 
accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction thereof. 

Section 5.11 Notice of Third-Party Claims. 

In accordance with Section 9201(b) of the California Public Contract Code, Authority 
shall provide Contractor timely notification of any third-party claim related to this Agreement (if 
any). 

ARTICLE 6
FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS 

Section 6.1 Certain Requirements. 

(a) Compliance with Laws.  Contractor shall comply with all applicable state 
and federal laws, rules and regulations, including but not limited to the requirements of the 
following, as the same may be amended from time to time: 

(i) The requirements of Executive Order 11246, as more particularly 
set forth in Exhibit J; 

(ii) The Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 3601 et seq., and regulations 
issued thereunder, 24 CFR Part 100; Executive Order 11063 (Equal Opportunity in Housing) and 
regulations issued thereunder, 24 CFR Part 107; the fair housing poster regulations, 24 CFR Part 
110, and the HUD Fair Housing Act Advertising Guidelines; 

(iii) Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. 2000d, and 
regulations issued thereunder relating to nondiscrimination in housing, 24 CFR Part 1; 

(iv) Age Discrimination Act of 1975, 42 U.S.C. 6101-07, and 
regulations issued thereunder, 24 CFR Part 146; 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

26 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(v) Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. 794, and 
regulations issued thereunder, 24 CFR Part 8; the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. 
12181-12189, and regulations issued thereunder, 28 CFR Part 36; and 

(vi) The Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act, as amended (42 
U.S.C. 4801-4846.), the Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard Reduction Act (42 U.S.C. 4851 et
seq.), and implementing regulations at 24 C.F.R. Part 35. 

(b) No Limitation.  Contractor is required to comply with all applicable laws 
regarding the Work, and the failure to include, or otherwise specify, any applicable law in this 
Section 6.1, or elsewhere in this Agreement, shall not be construed to waive, limit, or otherwise 
impair Contractor's obligation to comply with such laws. 

Section 6.2 Recordkeeping, Audit & Reporting Requirements 

(a) Recordkeeping; Access.  Contractor's books and records pertaining to its 
performance under this Agreement shall be kept in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and shall be retained for at least three (3) years after Authority makes final 
payment to Contractor under this Agreement and all other pending matters are closed.  
Contractor agrees to grant a right of access to Authority, HUD, any agency providing funds to 
Authority, the Comptroller General of the United States, and any of their authorized 
representatives, with respect to any books, documents, papers, or other records pertinent to this 
Agreement in order to make audits, examinations, excerpts, and transcripts.  Authority shall 
notify Contractor of any records it deems insufficient.  Contractor shall have fifteen (15) 
calendar days after the receipt of such a notice to correct any deficiency in the records specified 
by Authority in such notice, or if a period longer than fifteen (15) calendar days is reasonably 
necessary to correct the deficiency, then Contractor shall begin to correct the deficiency within 
fifteen (15) calendar days and correct the deficiency as soon as reasonably possible. 

(b) Contractors.  Contractor agrees to include in first-tier subcontracts under 
this Agreement a clause substantially the same as Section 6.2(a) of this Agreement.  The term 
"subcontract" as used in this clause excludes contracts and purchase orders not exceeding Ten 
Thousand and No/100ths Dollars ($10,000.00).

(c) Access for Disputed Matters.  The period of access and examination under 
Section 6(a) and Section 6(b) of this Agreement for records relating to:  (i) appeals under the 
Dispute Section of this Agreement; (ii) litigation or settlements of disputes arising from the 
performance of this Agreement; or (iii) costs and expenses of this Agreement to which 
Authority, HUD or Comptroller General or any of their duly authorized representatives has taken 
exception shall continue until disposition of such appeals, litigation, claims, or exceptions. 

(d) Audit.  Authority, HUD, any agency providing funds to Authority, the 
Comptroller General of the United States, or any of their duly authorized representatives, shall 
have the right to perform any audit of Contractor's finances and records related to its 
performance under this Agreement, including without limitation, the financial arrangement with 
anyone Contractor may delegate to discharge any part of its obligations under this Agreement. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

27 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Section 6.3 Interest of Members of Congress. 

No Member of or delegate to the Congress of the United States shall be admitted to any 
share or part of this Agreement or to any benefit to arise therefrom. 

Section 6.4 Interest of Member, Officer, or Employee and Former Member, Officer, or 
Employee of Authority. 

No member, officer, or employee of Authority, no member of the governing body of the locality 
in which the project is situated, no member of the governing body by which Authority was 
activated, and no other public official of such locality or localities who exercises any functions or 
responsibilities with respect to the project, shall, during his or her tenure, or for one (1) year 
thereafter or such longer time as Authority's Code of Ethics may require, have any interest, direct 
or indirect, in this Agreement or the proceeds thereof, unless the conflict of interest is waived by 
Authority and by HUD. 

Section 6.5 Lobbying Activities. 

Contractor shall comply with 31 USC 1352 which prohibits the use of Federal 
appropriated funds to pay any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an 
employee of a member of Congress in connection with any of the following covered Federal 
actions:  the awarding of any Federal contract; the making of any Federal grant; the making of 
any Federal loan; the entering into of any cooperative agreement; or the modification of any 
Federal contract, loan, or cooperative agreement.  Contractor further agrees to comply with the 
requirement of such legislation to furnish a disclosure (OMB Standard Form LLL) if any funds 
other than Federal appropriated funds (including profit or fee received under a covered Federal 
transaction) have been paid or will be paid to any person for influencing or attempting to 
influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee 
of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress, in connection with a Federal contract, 
grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, which payment would be prohibited if made from Federal 
appropriated funds.

ARTICLE 7
GENERAL PROVISIONS

Section 7.1 Relationship of Parties. 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be interpreted or understood by any of the 
Parties, or by any third persons, as creating the relationship of employer and employee, principal 
and agent, limited or general partnership, or joint venture between Authority and Contractor or 
its agents, employees or subcontractors, and Contractor shall at all times be deemed an 
independent contractor and shall be wholly responsible for the manner in which it or its agents, 
or both, perform the services required of it by the terms of this Agreement.  Contractor has and 
retains the right to exercise full control of employment, direction, compensation, and discharge 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

28 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

of all persons assisting in the performance of services under this Agreement.  In regards to the 
performance of the Work, Contractor shall be solely responsible for all matters relating to 
payment of its employees, including compliance with Social Security, withholding, and all other 
laws and regulations governing such matters, and shall include requirements in each contract that 
subcontractors shall be solely responsible for similar matters relating to their employees.  
Contractor shall be solely responsible for its own acts and those of its agents and employees.  
Contractor is not authorized to act on behalf of Authority with respect to any matters except 
those specifically set forth in this Agreement.  Authority shall not have any liability or duty to 
any person, firm, corporation, or governmental body for any act of omission or commission, 
liability, or obligation of Contractor, whether arising from actions under this Agreement or 
otherwise.  Authority agrees to exercise all reasonable efforts to enable Contractor to perform the 
Work in the best way and most expeditious manner by furnishing and approving, in a timely 
manner, information required by Contractor and making payments to Contractor in accordance 
with the requirements of the Contract Documents. 

Section 7.2 No Claims. 

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall create or justify any claim against Authority 
by any person that Contractor may have employed or with whom Contractor may have 
contracted relative to the purchase of materials, supplies or equipment, or the furnishing or the 
performance of any work or services with respect to the performance of the Work, and 
Contractor shall include similar requirements in any contracts entered into for the performance of 
the Work. 

Section 7.3 Amendments. 

No alteration or variation of the terms of this Agreement shall be valid unless made in 
writing by the Parties. 

Section 7.4 Indemnification. 

(a) Contractor's Obligation.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor 
shall indemnify and hold harmless Authority, and its commissioners, Architect, their consultants, 
and agents and employees or any of them from and against claims, damages, losses and 
expenses, including but not limited to attorneys' fees, arising out of or resulting from 
performance of the Work, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to 
bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property, but 
only to the extent caused by the negligent acts or omissions of Contractor, a Subcontractor, 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, 
regardless of whether or not such claim, damage, loss or expense is caused in part by a Party 
indemnified hereunder.  Such obligation shall not be construed to negate, abridge, or reduce 
other rights or obligations of indemnity which would otherwise exist as to a Party or person 
described in this Section 7.4. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

29 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

(b) No Limitation.  In claims against any person or entity indemnified under 
this Section 7.4 by an employee of Contractor, a Subcontractor, anyone directly or indirectly 
employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable, the indemnification obligation 
under this Section 7.4 shall not be limited by a limitation on amount or type of damages, 
compensation or benefits payable by or for Contractor or a Subcontractor under workers' 
compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other employee benefit acts. 

(c) Survival.  The provisions of this Section 7.4 shall survive the termination 
or expiration of this Agreement.

Section 7.5 Non-Liability of Authority Officials, Employees and Agents. 

No member, official, employee or agent of Authority shall be personally liable to 
Contractor in the event of any default or breach by Authority or for any amount which may 
become due to Contractor or its successor or on any obligation under the terms of this 
Agreement.

Section 7.6 No Third Party Beneficiaries. 

There shall be no third party beneficiaries to this Agreement. 

Section 7.7 Conflict of Interest. 

Contractor covenants that neither it nor any of its directors, officers, partners or 
employees has any interest, nor shall acquire any interest, directly or indirectly, which would 
conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of the services hereunder.  Contractor 
further covenants that in the performance of this Agreement, no person having such interest shall 
be employed by it. 

Section 7.8 Representatives; Authorization. 

(a) Representation.  To facilitate communication, the Parties to this 
Agreement shall designate a representative with responsibility for the routine administration of 
each Party's obligations under this Agreement.  The Parties initially appoint the following as 
representatives:

Authority: Joseph Nagel                                                                                       
Construction Project Manager 
Housing Authority of the City of Alameda 
701 Atlantic Avenue 
Alameda, California 94501 
Tele: (510) 747-4340 
Email:  jnagel@alamedahsg.org 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

30 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Contractor: Athens General Construction LLC
4291 Suzanne Dr.    
Pittsburgh, Ca. 94565                                                                                      
Tele: (925) 232-4446                                                                                       
Email: Athensgeneralconstruction@gmail.com                     
Attn: Athena Kouloulias, CEO 

(b) Authorization.  Except as may be otherwise specifically provided herein, 
whenever any approval, notice, direction, consent, request, or other action by Authority is 
required or permitted under this Agreement, such action may be given, made, or taken by 
Authority's Executive Director and/or his designee, without further action or approval by 
Authority Board of Commissioners, and any such action shall be in writing.  The Executive 
Director and/or his designee may, in his or her discretion, agree in writing to modification of the 
dates by which action are to be complete or to waive any terms and conditions of this 
Agreement.  The Executive Director and/or his designee is authorized to execute all ancillary 
documents necessary to effectuate the intent of this Agreement, and to negotiate and execute 
amendments to this Agreement substantially in conformance with the intent of this Agreement. 

Section 7.9 Notices, Demands and Communications. 

Formal notices, demands, approvals, claims, and communications between the Parties 
shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given if and shall not be deemed given unless 
dispatched by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or delivered 
by express delivery service, return receipt requested, or delivered personally, to the principal 
office of the Parties as follows: 

Authority: Housing Authority of the City of Alameda 
701 Atlantic Avenue 
Alameda, California 94501 
Attention:  Vanessa Cooper, Executive Director 

Contractor: Athens General Construction LLC                                                                                              
4291 Suzanne Dr.                                                                                             
Pittsburgh, Ca. 94565                                                                                       

Such written notices, demands and communications may be sent in the same manner to 
such other addresses as the affected Party may from time to time designate by mail as provided 
in this Section 7.9.  Receipt shall be deemed to have occurred on the date shown on a written 
receipt as the date of delivery or refusal of delivery (or attempted delivery if undeliverable).

Section 7.10 Applicable Law. 

This Agreement shall be governed by California law. 

Section 7.11 Parties Bound. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

31 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Other than in connection with the portions of the Work to be performed by 
Subcontractors, Contractor shall not assign or otherwise transfer this Agreement, as a whole, or 
in any part, without the prior written consent of Authority.  Any such attempted assignment or 
transfer shall be null and void, and shall constitute a default under this Agreement.  Except as 
otherwise limited herein, the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the Parties and their heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors, 
and assigns. 

Section 7.12 Attorneys' Fees. 

If any lawsuit is commenced to enforce any of the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing 
Party will have the right to recover its reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit from the other 
Party. 

Section 7.13 Severability. 

If any term of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 
void or unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions shall continue in full force and effect 
unless the rights and obligations of the Parties have been materially altered or abridged by such 
invalidation, voiding or unenforceability. 

Section 7.14 Waivers. 

Any waiver by Authority of any obligation or condition in this Agreement must be in 
writing.  No waiver will be implied from any delay or failure by Authority to take action on any 
breach or default of Contractor or to pursue any remedy allowed under this Agreement or 
applicable law.  Any extension of time granted to Contractor to perform any obligation under this 
Agreement shall not operate as a waiver or release from any of its obligations under this 
Agreement.  Consent by Authority to any act or omission by Contractor shall not be construed to 
be a consent to any other or subsequent act or omission or to waive the requirement for 
Authority's written consent to future waivers. 

Section 7.15 Title of Parts and Sections. 

Any titles of the sections or subsections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of 
reference only and shall be disregarded in interpreting any part of the provisions of this 
Agreement.

Section 7.16 Entire Understanding of the Parties. 

This Agreement and the attached exhibits constitute the entire understanding and 
agreement of the Parties with respect to the matters set forth in this Agreement.  This Agreement 
shall not be construed as if it had been prepared by one of the Parties, but rather as if both Parties 
had prepared it.  The Parties have read and reviewed this Agreement and agree that any rule of 
construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party (including 
but not limited to Section 1654 of the California Civil Code as may be amended from time to 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

32 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

time, or any other state law, or common law principle) shall not apply to the interpretation of this 
Agreement.

Section 7.17 Builder's Risk Insurance. 

Authority shall purchase and maintain a Builder's Risk Insurance policy, and shall 
include the interests of Authority, Contractor, and Subcontractors.  All deductible amounts will 
be the responsibility of Authority.  Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the 
contrary, including but not limited to Section 33 of the General Conditions, pursuant to 
Section 7105 of the California Public Contract Code, Contractor shall not assume responsibility 
for repairing or restoring damages caused by an "act of God" in excess of five percent (5.00%) of 
the Contract Sum; provided, that the Work damaged was performed by Contractor, or its 
Subcontractors (as applicable) in accordance with accepted and applicable building standards 
and this Agreement. 

Section 7.18 Contractor Notifications. 

(a) Notifications.  Contractor shall notify Authority promptly, in writing, of 
any and all of the following: 

(i) Any litigation or claim of any kind affecting or relating to 
Contractor or its subsidiaries or any Material Subcontractor where the amount claimed is or 
maybe One Hundred Thousand and No/100ths Dollars ($100,000.00) or more whether covered 
by insurance or not; 

(ii) Any termination of a construction contract to which Contractor is a 
party; 

(iii) Any default or potential default of a Material Subcontractor or 
material supplier (including without limitation, its inability to maintain its schedule); 

(iv) Any material adverse change in Contractor's or any Material 
Subcontractor's financial condition, any material adverse change in Contractor's or any Material 
Subcontractor's operations, or any change in the management of Contractor or any Material 
Subcontractors; or 

(v) Any other circumstance, event, or occurrence that results in a 
material adverse change in Contractor's or any Material Subcontractor's ability to timely perform 
any of its obligations under any of the Contract Documents. 

(b) Material Subcontractor.  For the purposes of this Section 7.18(b), 
"Material Subcontractor" means a Subcontractor performing more than Twenty-Five Thousand 
and No/100ths Dollars ($25,000.00) of the Work.



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

33 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Section 7.19 Time. 

Time is of the essence in the performance of the Work.

Section 7.20 Conflict Among Contract Documents. 

In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the other Contract 
Documents, the terms of this Agreement shall control.  In the event of any conflict between the 
terms of this Agreement and the Exhibits, unless otherwise noted, the terms of this Agreement 
shall control. 

Section 7.21 Multiple Originals; Counterpart. 

This Agreement may be executed in multiple originals, each of which is deemed to be an 
original, and may be signed in counterparts. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503

S-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have duly executed this Agreement by their duly 
authorized officers and shall become effective as of the Effective Date, it being the intent of the 
Parties that Authority be the last of the Parties to sign this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF 
ALAMEDA, 
a public body, corporate and politic

By: ____________________________________

Name: ____________________________________

Its: ____________________________________

CONTRACTOR:

ATHENS GENERAL CONSTRUCTION LLC.,  
A Limited Liability Corporation, 

By: ____________________________________

Name: ____________________________________

Its: ____________________________________



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS                                
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT A

SCOPE OF WORK

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLAN











INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT B

LIST OF SUBCONTRACTORS

ATHENS GENERAL CONSTRUCTION LLC TO USE IN-HOUSE LABOR

[See Attached]

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLAN



H-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS 
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

EXHIBIT C

CONTRACTOR SCHEDULE OF VALUES, QUALIFICATIONS AND EXCLUSIONS

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



 

 

Athens General Construction LLC 

4291 Suzanne Dr 
Pittsburg, CA 94565 
Phone: 925-232-4446 
Email:  Athensgeneralconstruction@gmail.com 
CSLB#1002078 
DIR#1001121433 

 

PROPOSAL 

PROJECT OWNER:  City of Alameda 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Exterior siding and trim replacement at Independence Plaza 

Apartments 
PROJECT ADDRESS:   703 Atlantic Ave, Alameda, CA 94501 
PROPOSAL DATE:   April 26, 2024  

  
A. SCOPE OF WORK  

Replace damaged siding and trim at 5 residential buildings as per diagram and Location List presented by City of 
Alameda on April 10, 2023.   
 

 
over exposed area where siding has been removed.  Install new James Hardie Plank Cedarmill 8" siding pieces with 
expos   Install Z-bar horizontal flashing to prevent water intrusion 
under all trim areas and over any doors/windows where siding is being replaced.  Prime back side of siding prior to 
install. 
 

pre-
galvanized nails. 
 
Caulk any seams with Alex Plus 35 yr caulking.  Also caulk around trim and other necessary areas.  Apply galvanized 
primer to nail heads.  Spot prime other areas, as necessary.  Cover all new areas with two coats of exterior latex 
paint.  Prep, prime and paint to match existing color/finish. 
 
Demo existing laundry counter, cabinets, sink area in all 5 buildings.   Replace with ADA compliant countertop, for 

Counter to be straight laminate with integrated backsplash and installed side 
splashes.  Install new stainless steel laundry sink & faucet.  Also cover P-trap with Soft ADA Safety Cover.  Repair 
wall area, apply primer then finish with two coats of interior latex paint to match existing. 
 
 
 

 
Paint Materials 
Primer siding/trim:  SW Exterior Latex Wood Primer  
Finish paint siding:  SW Super Paint, finish and color to match existing 
Finish paint trim:  SW Super Paint, finish and color to match existing 
Interior primer:  SW Prep Rite Primer 
Interior paint:  SW Promar 200 Zero VOC 
 

 



 

 
Schedule 
Work expected to take 4-5 weeks for completion barring any weather or other non-controllable delays.  
 
********************************************************************************* 
Pricing 
Will provide necessary labor, equipment, and materials, in order to complete the scope of work referred to above.  
Laundry counter, sink, and faucet contractor choice included in price.  Labor based on current Prevailing Wage 
Rates.  Any dry rot areas found, during course of work, that is additional to those listed will be identified and 
repaired only with owner approval by way of Change Order at pricing shown below. 
 
 

1. Base Price Siding/trim:  $102,815.00 (ONE HUNDRED TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED FIFTEEN 
DOLLARS) 

2. Laundry Price:              $ 10,000.00 (TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS) 
3. Add Alt Price:              $38.00/sq ft siding  

              
              

 
********************************************************************************* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Submitted by Athena Kouloulias / CEO 
Athens General Construction LLC 
April 26, 2024 
 

 
 
 
 
 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT D

LIST OF PLANS

[See Attached]

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT E

GENERAL CONDITIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT (FORM HUD-5370)

[See Attached]

 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT F

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS

General Requirements

(i) During the performance of the work and until its acceptance by Authority, 
Contractor and each Subcontractor shall maintain in full force public liability and property 
damage insurance in accordance with this Exhibit F. 

(ii) Before commencing work, Contractor and each of its Subcontractors shall furnish 
Authority with a Certificate of Insurance, in triplicate (naming the Housing Authority of the City 
of Alameda as the Certificate Holder) indicating insurance coverage with respect to the liability 
assumed under the provisions of this Exhibit F, and shall further indicate the insurance coverage 
is in force and will cover all operations under the contract with minimum limits as shown below: 

Contractor 

(1) Workers' Compensation Insurance that meets statutory limits and Employer's 
Liability limit at not less than One Million and No/100ths Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per 
occurrence. 

(2) Commercial General Liability including Blanket Contractual Liability, Employees 
as Additional Insured, Completed Operations-Products Liability, and deletion of any exclusion 
pertaining to explosion, collapse, and underground property damage hazards, Personal Injury 
Liability endorsement, Property Damage Liability including Broad Form Property Damage 
endorsement. 

The minimum limits of liability shall be: 

Contractor:  

$2,000,000 Combined Single Limit per Occurrence Bodily Injury and Property 
Damage 

$2,000,000 General Aggregate Limit 

$2,000,000 Products and Completed Operations Aggregate 

Products and Completed Operations Insurance shall be maintained for a minimum period 
of two (2) years after final payment, and contractor shall continue to furnish evidence of such 
coverage to Authority on an annual basis during the aforementioned period. 

Liability Insurance shall be written to cover all claims incurred during the term of this 
Agreement or out of any work performed pursuant to this Agreement, regardless of when such 
claim shall be first made against Authority and/or Contractor.  Should any required liability 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-2 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

insurance be written on a claims-made basis, Contractor shall continue to provide such evidence 
of coverage for four (4) years after completion and acceptance of the Project.

(3) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance applicable to any owned, non-
owned or hired vehicles in limits not less than the following: 

Two Million and No/100ths Dollars ($2,000,000.00) per occurrence Combined Single 
Limit of Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability. 

The limits required in numbers 2 and 3 above may be satisfied through any combination 
of limits under primary liability and automobile liability policies and excess/umbrella liability 
policies.

Subcontractors

Contractor shall require that all Subcontractors maintain and provide evidence of insurance as 
follows: 

Commercial General Liability: 

Bodily Injury & Property Damage: $1,000,000 per occurrence; 

Personal Injury: $1,000,000; 

General Aggregate: $2,000,000; 

Products/Completed Operations Aggregate: $1,000,000; 

Automobile Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability: $1,000,000 per occurrence; and 

Workers' Compensation Statutory Employers' Liability $1,000,000. 

With the exception of Workers' Compensation insurance, each policy shall be endorsed to 
include Authority and Contractor as additional insureds, and shall also provide the following: 

All liability policies shall be endorsed to state that the Subcontractor's coverage shall be 
considered primary and non-contributory, and that any liability insurance carried by Authority or 
Contractor shall be considered excess.

All policies of insurance required of the Subcontractor shall be endorsed to state that the 
insurer will provide Authority and Contractor with a thirty (30)-calendar day notice of 
cancellation or non-renewal.  Prior to the time of commencement of the subcontract, 
Subcontractors shall be required to deliver to Contractor certificates providing evidence of the 
insurance required under this provision, along with copies of the endorsements required above. 

Hazardous Materials:  Contractor shall require the hazardous materials removal 
subcontractor(s) to provide insurance for liability arising out of removal and disposal of all 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503

H-3

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

hazardous materials from the Property.  Such insurance shall be for the minimum limits of One 
Million and No/100ths Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and Two Million and No/100ths 
Dollars ($2,000,000.00) in the aggregate, and shall name the Housing Authority of the City of 
Alameda and Contractor as additional insureds.  The limits required in this Paragraph B may be 
satisfied by any combination of primary and excess/umbrella policies. 

Contractor shall take responsible steps to insure that each of the Subcontracts and 
subordinate subcontractors assist and cooperate in every manner possible in connection with the 
adjustment of all claims arising out of operations within the scope of work provided for under the 
Contract, and shall cooperate with the insurer in all litigated claims and demands or defense 
which the insurer is called upon to adjust or resist which arise out of said work. 

Proof of the above insurance policies furnished at Contractor's expense, and applicable to 
all operations under the Contract, must be provided to Authority prior to commencement of work 
under a Contract.  Coverage shall be placed with insurance companies with A.M. Best Co.'s 
rating of no less than A-VII.  The policy must name Authority as an additional insured and the 
consultant must provide Authority with Certificates of Insurance for the preceding coverage's.  
The insurance policies must provide a thirty (30)-calendar day notice of cancellation and be 
primary to any other insurance carried by Authority. 

 

 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT G 

DAVIS BACON WAGE RATES

[See Attached] 

 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT H 

AHA SECTION 3 POLICY

[See Attached]

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503

H-1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT I

SECTION 3 CERTIFICATION

SECTION 3 CERTIFICATION 

SECTION 3 AFFIRMATIVE ACTION PLAN

In accordance with the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended, and 
the regulations pursuant to that Act. 

_______________________________________________ 

(Contractor) 

Agrees to comply with Section 3 of that Act by assuring that to the greatest extent 
feasible 

 Training and employment opportunities will be given to lower income residents
of the project; and 

 Contracts for work in connection with the project will be awarded to business 
concerns which are located in or owned in substantial part by persons residing in 
the area of project. 

______________________________ will initiate the following actions to insure 
utilization of lower income project residents as employees or trainees and to incorporate project 
area small business as subcontractors and supplies:

1. Contractor will establish and maintain a directory of service organizations, job 
referral agencies and manpower training programs operating within, or serving, project area 
residents. 

2. Contractor will submit prior to the award of a contract, a signed assurance to 
comply with Section 3 regulations and requirements. 

3. Contractor will provide, prior to the signing of a contract, a statement of new 
work force needs, including trainee positions. 

4. Contractor will notify Community based organizations of available employment 
opportunities, and shall maintain records of response from such organizations. 

5. Contractor will undertake personal recruitment efforts directed to such service 
organizations and to schools with lower income resident training programs. 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503

H-2

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

6. Contractor will maintain a file of the names and addresses of each low income 
resident worker referred and what action was taken with respect to each referred worker 
(Attached).

7. Contractor will include the Section 3 clause in every subcontract for work in 
connection with HUD projects (Attached).

8. For each subcontract, the Prime Contractor will submit, prior to Contract award, 
the Section 3 Affirmative Action Plans of its subcontractors. 

9. Contractor will not attempt to circumvent Section 3 Provisions.

10. Contractor will make a good faith effort to employ or fill training positions with 
lower income project area residents, will, as a minimum, provide evidence of the following: 

(a) Attempts to recruit from the project area through location advertising 
media, community organizations, public and private agencies operating within or serving the 
project area, such as the State Employment Department, and the Private Industry Council. 

(b) Maintain a list of all lower income area residents who have applied either 
on their own or referral from any source, and if such persons, if otherwise qualified, have been 
employed.

11. Contractor will make a good faith effort to incorporate project area businesses as 
Subcontractors and Suppliers. 

12. Contractor will provide the Section 3 workforce and business utilization reports 
required under this contract.

_______________________________ fully realizes failure or refusal to comply and give 
satisfactory assurances of future compliance with the requirements of this Affirmative Action 
Plan shall be proper basis for any or all of the following actions:  Cancellation, termination or 
suspension in whole or in part of the contract; a determination of ineligibility or debarment from 
any further contracts under any federal program with respect to which the failure or refusal 
occurred until satisfactory assurances of future compliance have been received. 

Authorized Signature:  _____________________________________  Date:  ______________ 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT J

NOTICE FOR AFFIRMATIVE ACTION TO ENSURE EQUAL EMPLOYMENT 
OPPORTUNITY UNDER EXECUTIVE ORDER 11246, AND THE STANDARD 

FEDERAL EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT 
SPECIFICATIONS

[See Attached]

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLAN



Executive Order 11246, As Amended 
Executive Order 11246 — Equal Employment 
Opportunity 

Part I — Nondiscrimination in Government 
Employment 

Part II - Nondiscrimination in 
Employment by Government Contractors 
and Subcontractors 

Subpart A – Duties of the Secretary of Labor

SEC. 201 

Subpart B – Contractors’ Agreements

SEC. 202 





SEC. 203 





SEC. 204

Order

order

Order

Order

Order

Order



Subpart C – Powers and Duties of the Secretary of Labor and 
the Contracting Agencies

SEC. 205

SEC. 206

SEC. 207 

SEC. 208 



Subpart D – Sanctions and Penalties

SEC. 209 



SEC. 210 

SEC. 211 

SEC. 212 

Subpart E – Certificates of Merit 

SEC. 213 



SEC. 214 

SEC. 215 

Part III – Nondiscrimination Provisions in Federally Assisted 
Construction Contracts 

SEC. 301 

SEC. 302 



SEC. 303



SEC. 304

Part IV – Miscellaneous 

SEC. 401 

SEC. 402 

SEC. 403 



SEC. 404 

SEC. 405 



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT K

SCHEDULE

[See Attached] 

 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 #
 

M
T

W
T

H
F

M
T

W
T

H
F

M
T

W
T

H
F

M
T

W
T

H
F

M
T

W
T

H
F

M
T

W
T

H
F

M
T

W
T

H
F

70
3

70
5

70
7

70
9

71
1

IN
D

E
P

E
N

D
E

N
C

E
 P

L
A

Z
A

 E
X

T
E

R
IO

R
 S

ID
IN

G
 T

R
IM

 A
N

D
 A

D
A

 L
A

U
N

D
R

Y
 S

IN
K

 R
E

P
A

IR
S

W
E

E
K

 6
W

E
E

K
 7

W
E

E
K

 1
W

E
E

K
 2

W
E

E
K

 3
W

E
E

K
 4

W
E

E
K

 5



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503 

H-1 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

EXHIBIT L

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED FOR REFERENCE FROM RFP

[See Attached] 

REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK



From: Joseph Nagel
To: Joseph Nagel
Cc: Jocelyn Layte; Sarah Raskin
Bcc: mtollner@freestone-reconstruction.com; Donny Chu (donny@dcconstructioninc.com); arsen khachatryan; Athena

Kouloulias; Athena Kouloulias; "info@augustjaye.com"; "avalonconst@gmail.com";
"akuznetsov@bsideconstruction.com"; "vman38258@aol.com"; "yongkay@yahoo.com"; "izet@bbroscon.com";
"eric@bsminc.com"; "hmer123@aol.com"; "jim@cabinetsbybetterdesign.com"; "bill@centralbayroofing.com";
Oscar Casillas; "info@dglconstructionca.com"; Eric Taumani Nemaia (diamondsconcrete@gmail.com);
"donpedrotermite@aol.com"; Rene @ Ergeon; "support@esm.cc"; "fdo_duane@sbcglobal.net"; Fred Kreider
(fkconstructionservices@hotmail.com); mtollner@freestone-reconstruction.com; "milombrozo@yahoo.com";
George Muradyan; "Joseph.Haley@hdsupply.com"; "john@jamesoncontractors.com";
"msmith@johnstonemoyer.com"; "mj8generalbuilders@yahoo.com"; "nick@ncrconstructioninc.com"; Antone
Stavrianopoulos; "onpointmk@comcast.net"; "rteper@orbitdevelop.com"; cesar@primal-paint.com; Ronald
Ziegenbein; "chrisleary@rockridgebuilders.com"; Mike A. Ackman; Julio Ramos; "paul@sbibuilders.com";
"David70.svr@gmail.com"; "David70.svr@gmail.com"; "yourcontractor@comcast.net";
"darylwalker1@comcast.net"; "elmer@ramossons.com"; "geicobuilders@gmail.com"; "vman38258@aol.com";
"whyiota@yahoo.com"; "stav15@comcast.net"; "Office@antonisconstruction.com"

Subject: Requests for Proposal 04022024 - Housing Authority of the City of Alameda
Date: Tuesday, April 2, 2024 4:16:00 PM

The Housing Authority of the City of Alameda is soliciting proposals from qualified contractors for siding and trim
replacement at Independence Plaza Apartments.
The Independence Plaza Apartments are located at 703 Atlantic Ave., Alameda, Ca. 94501.

There are currently (5) buildings located on this property which require siding and trim replacement.

We will be hosting a mandatory bid walk on Wednesday April 10, 2024, at 1:30 PM at the above location.

Sincerely,
Joseph Nagel
Construction Project Manager
Housing Authority of the City of Alameda
701 Atlantic Ave.
Alameda, CA 94501
Office: (510) 747-4340
TTY/TRS: 711

PLEASE NOTE:  To help curb transmission of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19), the Housing Authority of the
City of Alameda (AHA) is requiring masks to be worn when visiting our offices.  Also, offices are only open a
limited number of hours and appointments are required before entering the office.
Our main offices are open Monday through Thursday 8:30 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. by appointment only with masks
required. 
The AHA will comply fully with all federal, state, and local nondiscrimination laws, and with rules and regulation
governing fair housing and equal opportunity in housing and employment. AHA will provide reasonable
accommodations upon request.

DISCLAIMER: The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to which it is addressed and
may contain confidential and/or privileged material. Any review, forwarding, re-transmission, dissemination or
other use of, or taking of any action in reliance upon this information by persons or entities other than the intended
recipient is prohibited. If you received this electronic mail transmission in error, please notify the sender at (510)
747-4340 and delete it.



INDEPENDENCE PLAZA EXTERIOR SIDING AND TRIM / LAUNDRY ROOMS SINK REPAIRS
AHA CONTRACT 20240503

1

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE 

HOUSING AUTHORITY OF THE CITY OF ALAMEDA,  
A PUBLIC BODY, CORPORATE AND POLITIC 

AND  

ATHENS GENERAL CONSTRUCTION LLC,                              
A LIMITED LIABILITY CORPORATION 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Page

ARTICLE 1 PURPOSE; DEFINITIONS ....................................................................................1
Section 1.1 Purpose. ....................................................................................................... 1
Section 1.2 Definitions................................................................................................... 1
Section 1.3 Exhibits. ...................................................................................................... 4

ARTICLE 2 CONSTRUCTION SERVICES..............................................................................5
Section 2.1 Scope of Work. ........................................................................................... 5
Section 2.2 Responsibility for Performance of the Work. ............................................. 5
Section 2.3 Contractor Representations and Warranties................................................ 6
Section 2.4 Subcontractors............................................................................................. 7
Section 2.5 Payment and Performance Bonds. .............................................................. 8
Section 2.6 Right of Entry; Job Site Facilities. .............................................................. 8
Section 2.7 Safety Precautions and Programs................................................................ 9
Section 2.8 Conditions Precedent to Commencement of the Work............................. 10
Section 2.9 Completion of the Work. .......................................................................... 11
Section 2.10 Delay and Extension of Time. .................................................................. 12
Section 2.11 Change Orders. ......................................................................................... 12
Section 2.12 Work Pursuant to Permits, Plans and Laws. ............................................. 13
Section 2.13 Authority's Right to Stop the Work. ......................................................... 14
Section 2.14 Authority's Right to Carry Out the Work.................................................. 14
Section 2.15 Section 3 Compliance. .............................................................................. 15
Section 2.16 Equal Opportunity. .................................................................................... 15
Section 2.17 Minority and Women-Owned Business Participation. ............................. 15
Section 2.18 Hazardous Materials. ................................................................................ 15
Section 2.19 Insurance Requirements............................................................................ 16
Section 2.20 Contractor's Obligations regarding Mechanic's Liens and 

Stop Notices. ............................................................................................. 16

ARTICLE 3 PAYMENT AND RECORD KEEPING REQUIREMENTS ............................17
Section 3.1 Contract Sum; Guaranteed Maximum Price. ............................................ 17
Section 3.2 Conditions Precedent to Disbursement of Funds for the 

Work. ........................................................................................................ 18
Section 3.3 Application for Payment Process.............................................................. 18
Section 3.4 Conditions Precedent to Release of Retention Amount. ........................... 19
Section 3.5 Assignment of Claims by Contractor........................................................ 20
Section 3.6 Information. .............................................................................................. 21

ARTICLE 4 TERM; DEFAULT; REMEDIES ........................................................................21
Section 4.1 Term.......................................................................................................... 21
Section 4.2 Events of Default by Contractor. .............................................................. 21
Section 4.3 Remedies. .................................................................................................. 22
Section 4.4 Remedies Cumulative. .............................................................................. 23
Section 4.5 Termination for Convenience. .................................................................. 23

ARTICLE 5 PARTIES' DISPUTES ..........................................................................................23
Section 5.1 Definition of Claim Governed by Dispute Clause. ................................... 23
Section 5.2 Applicability of Dispute Clause................................................................ 23
Section 5.3 Written Claims to be Submitted to Contracting Officer. .......................... 24



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued)

Page

ii

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Section 5.4 Notice of Decision or Decision Date. ....................................................... 24
Section 5.5 Effect of Contracting Officer's Decision. ................................................. 24
Section 5.6 Contractor's Duty to Perform Pending Claim Resolution. ........................ 24
Section 5.7 Identification of Contracting Officer. ....................................................... 24
Section 5.8 Arbitration of Disputes. ............................................................................ 24
Section 5.9 Situations when Arbitration Not Applicable............................................. 24
Section 5.10 Judgment on Final Award. ........................................................................ 25
Section 5.11 Notice of Third-Party Claims.................................................................... 25

ARTICLE 6 FEDERAL REQUIREMENTS ............................................................................25
Section 6.1 Certain Requirements................................................................................ 25
Section 6.2 Recordkeeping, Audit & Reporting Requirements ................................... 26
Section 6.3 Interest of Members of Congress. ............................................................. 27
Section 6.4 Interest of Member, Officer, or Employee and Former 

Member, Officer, or Employee of Authority. ........................................... 27
Section 6.5 Lobbying Activities. ................................................................................. 27

ARTICLE 7 GENERAL PROVISIONS ....................................................................................27
Section 7.1 Relationship of Parties. ............................................................................. 27
Section 7.2 No Claims. ................................................................................................ 28
Section 7.3 Amendments. ............................................................................................ 28
Section 7.4 Indemnification. ........................................................................................ 28
Section 7.5 Non-Liability of Authority Officials, Employees and 

Agents. ...................................................................................................... 29
Section 7.6 No Third Party Beneficiaries. ................................................................... 29
Section 7.7 Conflict of Interest. ................................................................................... 29
Section 7.8 Representatives; Authorization. ................................................................ 29
Section 7.9 Notices, Demands and Communications. ................................................. 30
Section 7.10 Applicable Law. ........................................................................................ 30
Section 7.11 Parties Bound. ........................................................................................... 30
Section 7.12 Attorneys' Fees. ......................................................................................... 31
Section 7.13 Severability. .............................................................................................. 31
Section 7.14 Waivers. .................................................................................................... 31
Section 7.15 Title of Parts and Sections. ....................................................................... 31
Section 7.16 Entire Understanding of the Parties. ......................................................... 31
Section 7.17 Builder's Risk Insurance. .......................................................................... 32
Section 7.18 Contractor Notifications............................................................................ 32
Section 7.19 Time. ......................................................................................................... 33
Section 7.20 Conflict Among Contract Documents. ..................................................... 33
Section 7.21 Multiple Originals; Counterpart. ............................................................... 33

Exhibit A: Scope of Work 

Exhibit B: List of Subcontractors 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
(continued)

Page

iii 

Construction Services Agreement 
1705\14\3218706.1 

Exhibit C: Contractor Schedule of Values, Qualifications and Exclusions 

Exhibit D: List of Plans 

Exhibit E: General Conditions for Construction Contract (Form HUD-5370) 

Exhibit F: Insurance Requirements

Exhibit G: Davis Bacon Wage Rates 

Exhibit H: AHA Section 3 Policy

Exhibit I: Section 3 Certification

Exhibit J: Notice for Affirmative Action to Ensure Equal Employment Opportunity 
under Executive Order 11246, and the Standard Federal Equal 
Employment Opportunity Construction Contract Specifications 

Exhibit K: Schedule 

Exhibit L: Documents incorporated for reference from RFP




